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PROCEEDINGS RESUME ON 22 MARCH 2021  

CHAIRPERSON:    Good morn ing  Mr  Se leka,  good morn ing  

everybody.  

ADV SELEKA SC:   Morn ing  Cha i rperson.  

MS BROWN:   Good morn ing  Cha i r  

CHAIRPERSON:   Good morn ing  Ms Brown.  

MS BROWN:   Good morn ing  S i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Thank you.   Good morn ing  to  your  lega l  

team,  good morn ing  to  eve rybody.   I  must  jus t  once aga in  

thank you Ms Brown fo r  mak ing  yourse l f  ava i lab le  on  a  10 

pub l i c  ho l iday.   I  must  thank your  lega l  team fo r  the i r  

coopera t ion  so  tha t  we cou ld  have  th is  sess ion  on  a  pub l i c  

ho l iday.   I  mus t  thank Mr  Se leka and h is  team,  the  

techn ic ians,  the  commiss ion ’s  s ta f f ,  everybody fo r  mak ing  

i t  poss ib le  fo r  us  to  s i t  even on a  pub l i c  ho l iday.   Thank 

you ve ry  much.   

 Okay Mr  Se leka.  

ADV SELEKA SC:   Thank you Cha i rpe rson.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ms Brown the  oa th  you took on  Fr iday 

w i l l  con t inue to  app ly  today.   I s  tha t  a l r igh t?  20 

MS BROWN:   Okay.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay a l r igh t .  

MS BROWN:   Tha t  i s  f ine .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay a l r igh t .  

ADV SELEKA SC:   Yes.  
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CHAIRPERSON:   Okay Mr  Se leka.  

ADV SELEKA SC:   Thank you Cha i r.   Ms Brown we were  –  

when we ad journed las t  t ime dea l ing  w i th  the  compos i t ion  

o f  the  sub-commi t tees I  w i l l  back to  a  par t i cu la r  aspect  o f  

i t  in  due course  but  I  w ish  to  ask  you th is .   You are  aware  

tha t  the  Fundudz i  Repor t  –  the  Fundudz i  has made an  

invest iga t ion  in to  some o f  the  emai ls  exchanged between  

in fopor ta l  emai l  address and Ms  K im Dav ids .   You are  

aware  o f  i t?  

MS BROWN:   Yes  I  am aware  o f  i t .  10 

ADV SELEKA SC:   Yes.   And they  have p roduced a  repor t  

tha t  shows ex tens i ve  exchange  o f  emai l s  be tween  Ms 

Dav ids  and in fopor ta l  in  regard  to  CV ’s  o f  persons tha t  

u l t imate ly  became appo in ted  e i ther  to  the  board  or  

inc lud ing  in  th is  case Mr  R ichard  Se leke who gets  to  be 

appo in ted  a t  the  DPE as a  DG.   I  –  I  unders tand you have  

seen tha t  repor t?  

MS BROWN:   Yes  I  have answered the  quest ions and  I  a lso  

pu t  in  an  a f f idav i t  on  tha t  mat te r.  

ADV SELEKA SC:   Yes.   I  have read your  a f f idav i t .   I  see 20 

tha t  you r  response in  regard  to  deny ing  knowledge tha t  Ms  

Dav ids  was ac t ing  on  –  e i the r  on  your  ins t ruc t ion  or  w i th  

your  knowledge in  exchange in  those emai ls .  

MS BROWN:   I  –  I  sa id  tha t  in  my a f f idav i t  yes .  

ADV SELEKA SC:   Yes.   But  I  th ink  what  i s  no t  dea l t  w i th  
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in  your  a f f idav i t  i s  the  very  fac t  o f  her  hav ing  

communica ted  and rece ived CV’s  f rom th is  emai l  address  

o f  in fopor ta l  wh ich  is  p resumed to  be  the  emai l  address o f  

Mr  Sa l im Essa.   What  i s  your  comment  on  tha t?  

MS BROWN:   My  comment  on  any  emai ls  rece ived  by  Ms  

Dav ids  wou ld  have to  go  to  the  Lega l  and Governance Un i t .   

So she wou ld  no t  se t  –  she wou ld  no t  send the  emai ls  to  

me she w i l l  send  i t  d i rec t l y  to  the  Lega l  and Governance 

Un i t .   And the  Lega l  and Governance Un i t  w i l l  then s i f t  

th rough those emai ls .  10 

 Now we have had many wa lk - ins  and peop le  

phon ing  to  say can we app ly  and  a l l  I  have ever  –  we l l  

persona l l y  I  sa id  jus t  contac t  number  on  the  – the  adver t  o r  

contac t  my o f f i ce .  

ADV SELEKA SC:   A re  you say ing  to  the  Cha i rperson you  

wou ld  no t  have been aware  tha t  she was rece iv ing  CV ’s  o f  

wou ld  be  board  members  f rom th is  emai l  address 

in fopor ta l?  

MS BROWN:   Yes .  

ADV SELEKA SC:   There  is  one emai l  wh ich  one a lso  f inds  20 

in  in fo  –  in  the  Fundudz i  Repor t  in  wh ich  she wr i tes  –  and  

th is  in  regard  to… 

CHAIRPERSON:   Do you want  to  te l l  me where  to  f ind  tha t  

f i rs t?  

ADV SELEKA SC:   Yes Cha i r.   That  you w i l l  f ind  Ms Brown 
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in  Eskom Bund le  7  fo r  hardcop ies  Cha i rperson is  7 (b)  on  

page 1140.    

MS BROWN:   I s  tha t  1140?  

ADV SELEKA SC:   1140 yes in  Eskom Bund le  7 .   A re  you 

there?  

MS BROWN:   Yes.   Maybe we shou ld  contac t  the  i n fopor ta l  

–  ja  I  am here .  

ADV SELEKA SC:   Ja  tha t  w i l l  be  under  14  –  paragraph 

14.9  w i th  a  head ing  Appo in tment  o f  G iovann i  Leonard i  a t  

Eskom.  10 

MS BROWN:   Yes .  

ADV SELEKA SC:   So  the  repor t  says:  

“We determine tha t  on  16  Apr i l  2015 Dav ids  

fo rwarded an emai l  t i t l ed  CV fo r  DPE Data  

Base f rom k imdav ids@dpe.gov.za  to  anc –  

they g i ve  the  fu l l  emai l  address.   A t tached 

to  the  emai l  was G iovann i  Leonard i ’s  CV.   

We fu r the r  de termine tha t  on  the  same day 

16 Apr i l  2016 Dav ids  sent  an  emai l  to  

in fopor ta l1@zoho .com s ta t ing  FYI  be low.   20 

Send me p lease –  send me p lease an 

answer  fo r  Ma ’am to  rever t  to  th is  be low.   

Much apprec ia ted  k ind  regards K im Dav ids . ”  

MS BROWN:   Hm.    

ADV SELEKA SC:   Then paragraph 14.9 .3  says:  

mailto:kimdavids@dpe.gov.za
mailto:infoportal1@zoho.com
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“We noted tha t  in fopor ta l1@zoho.com 

responded to  Dav ids ’ emai l  by  s ta t ing  tha t  

w i l l  do  p lease g ive  me t i l l  noon.   Dav ids  

responded to  the  emai l  by  s ta t ing  okay  

thanks very  much .   K im Dav ids . ”  

The repor t  car r ies  on .  

“We dete rmined tha t  G iovann i  Leonard i  was  

appo in ted  onto  the  Eskom board  dur ing  

Min is te r  Brown’s  tenure  as  DPE Min is te r. ”  

Then they re fe r  to  an  exchange w i th in  the  depar tment  and  10 

14.9 .6  says:  

“ In  the  emai l  Dav ids  ind i ca ted  tha t  as  

d iscussed w i th  Min is te r  Brown and he r  

d i rec t ion  the  fo l low ing was the  Eskom board  

nominat ions fo r  cab ine t  memorandum. ”  

MS BROWN:   And Mi r iam Cass iem and Leonard i  G iovanne  

is  inc luded there .  

ADV SELEKA SC:   Yes tha t  i s  co r rec t .   But  what  appears  

f rom the  repor t  i s  tha t  the  d iscuss ion  w i th  you wh ich  she 

says she had in  th is  emai l  fo l lows a f te r  the  exchange o f  20 

emai ls  be tween  her  and in fopor ta l  in  regard  to  the 

compos i t ion  o f  in  th is  case  cer ta in  boards.   SA Express,  

Dene l  and Eskom.   The quest ion  is ,  d id  she come to  you  

w i th  a  l i s t  o f  p roposa ls  fo r  compos i t ion  o f  these boards?  

MS BROWN:   There  was a  fe l low  –  the  G iovann i  i ssue I  

mailto:infoportal1@zoho.com
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remember  qu i te  c lear ly.   When she  sa id  how wou ld  you fee l  

about  hav ing  a  fo re ign  pe rson on the  board?  So I  sa id  no  

we l l  i t  i s  no t  exc luded.    

And I  fo r  a l l  in ten ts  and purpose thought  tha t  CV 

was g iven to  her  by  the  Cha i r  o f  Transnet  and even  though  

i t  was g iven to  her  by  the  Cha i r  o f  Transnet  i t  i s  had to  go  

th rough the  p rocess o f  Lega l  and Governance.    

And so  in  my mind her  b r ing ing  me tha t  board  I  do  

no t  remember  Mi r iam Cass iem in  tha t  –  in  the  way you 

put t ing  i t  as  i f  Mi r iam Cass iem and Leonard i  G iovann i  were  10 

brought  a t  the  same t ime.   

But  I  do  remember  tha t  Leonard i  G iovann i  was an 

E lec t r i ca l  Eng ineer ing  w i th  In te rnat iona l  exper ience wh ich  

–  wh ich  I  was very  happy w i th .   But  I  do  no t  remember  her  

b r ing ing  me a  l i s t  o f  any –  anybody.   Because I  do  no t  

rea l l y  take  a  page f rom anyone.    

You have got  to  b r ing  me a  dec i s ion  memo then tha t  

i s  the  on ly  t ime I  ac tua l l y  rea l l y  cons ider  i t .   You must  –  as  

I  sa id  to  you befo re  I  –  I  f i rs t l y  le t  me a l so  jus t  say  I  do  no t  

know who in fopor ta l  i s .  20 

ADV SELEKA SC:   Yes.  

MS BROWN:   When I  –  when I  heard  about  in fopor ta l  and 

a t  some po in t  i t  was l inked to  my  fo rmer  DG I  wen t  to  h im 

and I  asked h im is  in fopor ta l  your  address and he sa id  no .   

I  never  cons ide red tha t  anybody  e lse  was hav ing  any 
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con tac t  w i th  in fopor ta l  o r  po r ta l  a t  the  t ime.    

And fo r  –  I  cannot  remember  much about  the  

Fundudz i  Repor t  because they asked me a  number  o f  

quest ions and the  answers  I  gave them to  the  quest ions 

were  tha t  I  d id  no t  know wh ich  names and who –  I  mean  

because they –  they ment ion  pa r t i cu la r  names o f  par t i cu la r  

inc idents  and I  do  no t  re  –  I  do  no t  have any know ledge o f  

tha t .    

ADV SELEKA SC:   Yes.   Cou ld  you p lease exp la in  to  the  

Cha i rperson how wou ld  you have gathered tha t  the  CV was  10 

obta ined f rom the  Cha i rperson o f  Transnet  –  the  CV o f  Mr  

G iovann i?  

MS BROWN:   Because tha t  i s  the  one CV she d id  br ing  to  

me and she to ld  –  Ms Dav ids  to ld  me tha t  the  Cha i rpe rson  

o f  Transnet  her  name escapes me now – Mabaso  –  Ms 

Mabaso gave her  –  gave her  tha t  emai l .  

ADV SELEKA SC:   I  see  but  you wou ld  have seen f rom the  

Fundudz i  Repor t  tha t  the  f ind ings are  d i f fe ren t .  

MS BROWN:   We l l  f rom the  Fundudz i  Repor t  I  saw post  my  

depar tu re  f rom the  depar tment  I  d id  no t  see the  Fundudz i  20 

Repor t  be fore  tha t .   In  fac t  I  d id  no t  –  when I  read th rough  

the  repor t  the  fac t  tha t  i t  was not  a  s igned o f f  repor t ,  the 

fac t  tha t  i t  –  the  repor t  made assumpt ions based  on –  a  

who le  number  o f  assumpt ions w i thout  ask ing  me 

spec i f i ca l l y  abou t  those because they had access  to  me.   
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They sent  me a  l is t  o f  quest ions and I  answered the  l i s t  o f  

quest ions and tha t  was the  f i rs t  t ime tha t  I  saw in fopor ta l  

w i th in  my –  my m in is t ry.  

ADV SELEKA SC:   Yes.  

MS BROWN:   I t  was the  f i rs t  t ime tha t  I  ac tua l l y  saw i t .  

ADV SELEKA SC:   Hm.   Yes.   What  I  am –  what  I  am on ly  

say ing  is  –  I  am not  suggest ing  tha t  you wou ld  have seen i t  

a t  the  t ime but  I  am say ing  inso fa r  as  the  aspect  o f  where  

the  CV o f  Mr  G iovann i  came f rom jus t  tha t  aspect  you 

wou ld  have seen f rom the  Fundudz i  Repor t  tha t  the  f ind ing  10 

is  d i f fe ren t .   They make a  f ind ing  tha t  the  CV came f rom 

in fopor ta l .  

MS BROWN:   I  d id  no t  know tha t .  

ADV SELEKA SC:   Yes.    

MS BROWN:   I  –  the  Fundudz i  Repor t  was qu i te  a  long 

repor t  and I  mus t  be  ve ry  f rank when I  d id  no t  see a  –  a  

s ignature  on  the  repor t  I  d id  no t  –  I  d id  no t  read the  de ta i l  

o f  the  repor t  I  looked fo r  my s tu f f  and I  responded  to  my 

s tu f f  in  your  a f f idav i t  I  pu t  to  you.  

ADV SELEKA SC:   Hm.   The repor t  goes fu r the r  to  say in  20 

regard  to  Mr  G iovann i  tha t  there  is  no  ev idence tha t  he  

was sub jec ted  to  a  shor t l i s t ing ,  sc reen ing  and  ve t t ing  

process as  requ i red  by  the  depar tment   What  i s  your  

comment  on  tha t?  

MS BROWN:   Oh  I  –  i t  i s  un t rue .   Un less  the  depar tment  
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sa id  tha t  they d id  no t  fee l  tha t  they shou ld  ve t  –  no  no t  

ve t t ing  bu t  in  my  mind I  be l ieve  tha t  everybody who goes 

th rough the  process ge ts  ve t ted  because I  ge t  a  dec is ion  

memo tha t  says the  fo l low ing peop le  th is  has happened –  

you know they have been ve t ted  and these are  the  peop le  

who w i l l  go  th rough the  process.    

I  have to  say  tha t  the  on ly  ever  t ime where  

somebody was not  ve t ted  be fore  they were  appo in ted  was 

when I  appo in ted  the  2018 board .   P r io r  to  tha t  the  

dec is ion  memo d id  no t  b r ing  me a  l i s t  o f  peop le  who were  10 

not  ve t ted  or  they d id  no t  te l l  me  tha t  those peop le  were  

no t  ve t ted .    

And peop le  were  ve t ted  to  such an  ex ten t  tha t  there  

were  rea l l y  good  cand ida tes  who had and I  remember  th is  

one ve ry  we l l  w i thout  remember ing  the  person ’s  name who  

had car  f ines  –  speed ing  f ines  ou ts tand ing  and they cou ld  

no t  ge t  on to  the  board .   So I  am –  I  am – I  do  no t  be l ieve  

tha t  they were  no t  ve t ted  un less  somebody says so .  

ADV SELEKA SC:   Wel l  the  Fundudz i  Repor t  says so .  

MS BROWN:   Wel l  I  do  no t  know i f  I  –  look  I  th ink  the  20 

Fundudz i  Repor t  i s  an  in te res t ing  repor t .   I t  makes a  who le  

rank o f  assumpt ions w i thout  ac tua l l y  g iv ing  fac tua l  

in fo rmat ion  about  i t .   I  am –  I  must  be  –  I  d id  no t  th ink  I  

was read ing  the  Fundudz i  Repor t  th is  morn ing  because I  

wou ld  have prepared d i f fe ren t ly  fo r  i t  bu t  jus t  o f f  the  top  o f  



22 MARCH 2021 – DAY 365 
 

Page 12 of 108 
 

my head i t  in tended –  the  Fundudz i  Repor t  makes  

assumpt ions l i ke  the  emai l s  they say th is  emai l  wen t  to  K im 

Dav ids  f rom th is  number  and the re fore  the  Min is te r  was  

supposed to  know tha t .    

They make a  lo t  o f  00 :17 :58 o f  those comments .   

The assumpt ion  is  tha t  I  checked  Ms Dav ids ’ ema i l  every  

day and check who she gets  ema i ls  f rom.   I  do  no t  and I  

d id  no t .   I  had no  reason a t  tha t  t ime to  be l ieve  I  shou ld .  

ADV SELEKA SC:   Yes.   Wel l  pu t t ing  as ide  … 

CHAIRPERSON:   I  am sor ry  Mr  Se leka.   Ms Brown you 10 

have sa id  tha t  you d id  no t  unders tand tha t  you wou ld  be  

quest ioned on the  Fundudz i  Repor t  today and i f  you knew 

you wou ld  have p repared.    

Now I  do  no t  know what  Mr  Se leka  has to  say bu t  i f  

tha t  i s  the  pos i t ion  and i f  i t  d id  no t  fa l l  w i th in  what  was  

ar ranged as  the  issues tha t  you wou ld  be  quest ioned on  

f rom –  f rom Fr iday then maybe what  we wou ld  do  i t  i s  say  

answer  as  fa r  as  you are  ab le  to  bu t  where  you are  no t  

ab le  to  answer  w i thout  hav ing  re f reshed your  memory  then 

we can take  i t  f rom there .   Mr  Se leka.  20 

MS BROWN:   Okay  

CHAIRPERSON:   You wou ld  l i ke  to  say someth ing  about  

what  Ms Brown sa id?  

ADV SELEKA SC:   Yes Cha i r.   I  –  these are  i ssues  ar is ing  

f rom the  quest ions tha t  were  sent  to  Ms Brown.  
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CHAIRPERSON:   Ja .  

ADV SELEKA SC:   She has dea l t  w i th  them in  her  a f f idav i t  

in  a  par t i cu la r  way.    

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

ADV SELEKA SC:   For  ins tance l i ke  I  –  we po in ted  out  and  

she says what  she has den ied  in  her  a f f idav i t  i s  her  

knowledge o f  Ms K im Dav ids  communica t ing  w i th  he r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja .   

ADV SELEKA SC:   Bu t  she does not  dea l  w i th  the  fac t  tha t  

there  i s  tha t  communica t ion .  10 

CHAIRPERSON:   Hm 

ADV SELEKA SC:   And i t  i s  on ly  to  the  ex ten t  tha t  I  am 

t ry ing  to  b r ing  to  her  a t ten t ion  and  hear  what  her  comment  

i s .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Does  tha t  mean tha t  quest ions  on  the  

Fundudz i  Repor t  as  fa r  as  you are  concerned fa l l  w i th in  the  

scope o f  what  she was to  be  asked about  f rom Fr iday?  

ADV SELEKA SC:   Wel l  on  the  Eskom work  s t ream Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   On the  Eskom.  

ADV SELEKA SC:   In  i t  –  inso far  as  the  compos i t ion  o f  the  20 

Eskom board  is  concerned and the  sub-commi t tees.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja .   Ja .  

ADV SELEKA SC:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.   Ms Brown Mr  Se leka says he  

be l ieves tha t  inso far  as  the  Fundudz i  Repor t  re fe rs  to  the  
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compos i t ion  o f  the  Eskom board  he  be l ieves tha t  fe l l  w i th in  

the  scope o f  what  you were  to  dea l  w i th  f rom Fr iday.   I s  

tha t  –  i s  tha t  your  unders tand ing  as  we l l?  

MS BROWN:   That  i s  no t  –  I  do  no t  m ind answer ing  the  

quest ions Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

MS BROWN:   Because I  have put  i t  in  the  a f f idav i t .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.  

MS BROWN:   The  issue is  tha t  today in  my mind.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja .  10 

MS BROWN:   We wou ld  probab ly  end o f f  somewhere  w i th  

the  suspens ion  o f  the  execut ives  even though I  th ink  I  

have c la r i f ied  the  mat te r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   Ja .  

MS BROWN:   The  remova l  o f  Tsots i .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja .  

MS BROWN:   And the  Ba loy i .   The secondment  o f  Mo le fe  

and  Ano j  S ingh.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja .  

MS BROWN:   And then be ing  quest ioned on the  a f f idav i t s .   20 

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

MS BROWN:   Now in  my mind the  a f f idav i t  i s  the  –  the  

supp lementary  a f f idav i t .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja .  

MS BROWN:   Tha t  I  have to  answer  on .  
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CHAIRPERSON:   Hm.  

MS BROWN:   And where  issues a r is ing  f rom i t .   I  do  no t  

m ind answer ing  the  quest ions.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

MS BROWN:   As  long as  Mr  Se leka accepts  my answer  to  

the  quest ions as  we l l .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Wel l  accepts  the  –  except  your  answer  i s  

another  th ing  bu t  I  th ink  the  –  wha t  we w i l l  do  is  you –  you 

w i l l  answer  as  much as  poss ib le  and to  the  best  o f  you r  

ab i l i t y  depend ing  on when we  f in ish  and depend ing 10 

whethe r  –  how fa r  we have gone on th is  i ssue we m ight  see 

what  can be done  because.  

MS BROWN:   Per fec t .  

CHAIRPERSON:   I t  wou ld  be  good i f  we cou ld  use  today ’s 

t ime as  much as  poss ib le .    

MS BROWN:   Yes .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Bu t  le t  us  see how i t  goes.   Okay  a l r igh t .   

Mr  Se leka.  

ADV SELEKA SC:   Yes.   Thank –  t hank you Cha i r.   What  –  

you –  Ms Dav ids  what  the  Fundudz i  Repor ts  o f  20 

Invest iga t ion  Repor t  shows and  th is  i s  rea l l y  what  one  

seeks to  b r i ng  to  your  a t ten t ion  i s  tha t  apparent  f rom the  

emai ls  exchanged w i th  Ms K im Dav ids  i t  wou ld  appear  tha t  

an  ou ts ide  th i rd  par t y  ou ts ide  o f  government ,  ou ts ide  o f  

SOE’s  had a  hand in  –  in  in f luenc ing  who gets  to  be  
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appo in ted  on commi t tees o f  SOE’s .   Your  comment  on  tha t?  

MS BROWN:   You mean –  you mean on board  o r  do  you  

mean on commi t tees?  

ADV SELEKA SC:   On –  on  both  the  boards and the  

commi t tees because i f  you t ie  i t  –  i f  you  t ie  th is  repor t  w i th  

Mr  Tsots i ’s  vers ion  o f  and I  am put t ing  tha t  to  you not  

because I  am say ing  tha t  i s  what  happened but  I  am jus t  

say ing  Mr  Tsots i ’s  vers ion  o f  Sa l im Essa ’s  send ing  h im a 

l i s t  so  you have  h is  vers ion  and  you have what  you see  

here  in  the  Fundudz i  Repor t  o f  emai ls  exchanged between  10 

in fopor ta l  and Ms  K im Dav ids  the  p ic tu re  emerges tha t  an  

ou ts ide  person is  in f luenc ing  dec i s ion  mak ing  o f  who s i t s  

on  the  boards and who s i t s  on  sub-commi t tees.   Your  

comment?  

MS BROWN:   My –  as  I  to ld  you before  un less  proven  

d i f fe ren t ly.  

ADV SELEKA SC:   Hm.  

MS BROWN:   By  yourse l f  Mr  Se leka –  Advocate  Se leka  

un less  proven d i f fe ren t ly  my reco l lec t ion  o f  what  happens 

in  the  appo in tment  o f  boards is  ve ry  s imp le .  20 

 Now for  some odd reason somebody sa id  tha t  they 

had a  da ta  base and –  and I  am – I  am tak ing  you th rough  

so  tha t  I  can answer  your  quest ions.    

 They had a  da ta  base but  I  ins is ted  tha t  the  da ta  

base must  be  opened.   Now I  wou ld  on l y  know tha t  the  
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da ta  base can be reopened i f  I  knew tha t  tha t  was  

someth ing  tha t  was v iab l y  poss ib le .  

 So the  da ta  base  is  –  ra re ly  ge ts  opened because I  

t ry  to  work  i t  why you were  ask ing  the  quest ion  you were  

ask ing  me yeste rday or  the  day be fore .  

 And so  whatever  CV even i f  i t  comes f rom the  

Pres ident  tha t  CV s t i l l  has  to  go  th rough to  the  Lega l  and  

Governance Un i t .   The Lega l  and Governance Un i t  looks a t  

i t .   I t  then has a  separa te  body  –  a  separa te  company 

ve t t ing  a l l  o f  the  cand ida tes  and the  l i s t  o f  peop le  who 10 

eventua l l y  come to  me are  a l l  par t  o f  the  l i s t .  

ADV SELEKA SC:   Yes.  

MS BROWN:   And they then become par t  o f  the  l i s t .   So i t  

does not  mat te r  who sends the  emai l  o r  sends the  CV or  

sends the  name the  issue is  i t  has  to  go  th rough the  Lega l  

and Governance Un i t .    

Not  once d id  the  Lega l  and Governance Un i t  te l l  me 

tha t  they d id  no t  ve t  anyone.   I t  was one day in  2018 tha t  I  

phoned the  Lega l  and Governance Un i t  person Ms Ruthman 

and I  sa id  to  her  we a re  add ing  these th ree  names because 20 

tha t  came f rom another  meet ing  w i th  the  Pres ident  and 

Deputy  Pres ident .   

That  was the  on ly  t ime ever  I  p rocessed the  board  

w i thout  i t  be ing  ve t ted  be fo re  by  the  – by  the  Lega l  and  

Governance Un i t .   So in  my mind the  Lega l  and  
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Governance Un i t  has a lmost  the  f ina l  say  on  i t .  

ADV SELEKA SC:   Jus t  –  jus t  bear  in  m ind tha t  the  

commiss ion  is  invest iga t ing  so  these quest ions are  meant  

to  he lp  us  de term ine where  the  t ru th  l ies .   Ja .  

MS BROWN:   Yes .  

ADV SELEKA SC:   Inso far  as  Ms Dav ids ’ wou ld  have sa id  

to  you the  CV came f rom the  Cha i rpe rson o f  Transnet  can 

you reca l l  who was the  Cha i rpe rson o f  Transnet  a t  the 

t ime?  

MS BROWN:   I  sa id  Ms Mabaso.  10 

ADV SELEKA SC:   Mabaso.   D id  you conf i rm wi th  her  tha t  

she sent  tha t  CV? 

MS BROWN:   No.  

ADV SELEKA SC:   No.  

MS BROWN:   I  d id  no t  a t  a l l  because Cha i r  Mr  –  Advocate  

Se leka.  

ADV SELEKA SC:   Yes.  

MS BROWN:   The po in t  i s  those CV’s  had to  go  th rough a  

process i t  d id  no t  mat te r  who the  peop le  were .   The s t i l l  

had to  go  th rough  the  Lega l  and Governance Un i t  p rocess.  20 

ADV SELEKA SC:   Okay.  

MS BROWN:   And th is  p rocess took a  long t ime tha t  i s  

what  i s  –  what  I  –  nobody –  nobody in  my fou r  years  as  a  

Min is te r  came and to ld  me tha t  they were  some – what  you 

te l l ing  me today tha t  G iovann i  Leonard i  –  Leonard i  
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G iovann i  was not  ve t ted  or  d id  no t  go  th rough the  p rocess.  

ADV SELEKA SC:   Le t  us  move on .  

CHAIRPERSON:   So  –  so  as  I  unders tand the  pos i t ion  Ms 

Brown what  you are  say ing  is  you gave ins t ruc t ions tha t  

the  poo l  o r  da ta  base be opened up so  tha t  more  peop le  

cou ld  have the  oppor tun i ty  o f  be ing  cons ide red fo r  

appo in tments  to  var ious boards,  i s  tha t  cor rec t?  

MS BROWN:   Yes .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   And the  process was –  or  the  poo l  

was then opened  up and once tha t  had happened anybody 10 

and everybody cou ld  send h is  o r  her  CV or  someone e lse ’s  

CV to  the  depar tment  fo r  cons ide ra t ion  to  be  inc luded in  

some or  o ther  board .   I s  tha t  cor rec t?  

MS BROWN :    That  i s  cor rec t .  

CHAIRPERSON :    And our  ev idence is  tha t  i t  was the  

respons ib i l i t y  o f  the  Lega l  and Governance Un i t  w i th in  the  

depar tment  to  ve t  everyone whose name or  CV was to  be  

send to  you to  ensure  tha t  by  t he  t ime such  a  person ’s  

name was send to  you to  cons ide r  to  a  po in t ,  they  wou ld  

have been ve t ted .   I s  tha t  r igh t?  20 

MS BROWN :    I  am not  sure  i f  everybody who  comes  

th rough the  process. . .   Look,  Cha i r,  I  am not  mean ing  – I  

am not  mean ing  to  demean any pro fess ion  bu t  peop le  who  

are  ha i rd ressers  a lso  app l ied .  

CHAIRPERSON :    H ’m.  
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MS BROWN :    So  very  o f ten  they  were  no t . . .   Th is  i s  my  

assumpt ion  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    They d id  no t  go  beyond a  cer ta in  s tage? 

MS BROWN :    Do not . . .   They go  beyond what  c r i t e r ia  has 

been se t  up  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    H ’m.  

MS BROWN :    by. . .   I  s igned o f f  on  the  cr i te r ia .  

CHAIRPERSON :    H ’m.  

MS BROWN :    So  I  s igned o f f  on  the  cr i te r i a .   There  are  

thousands and thousands o f  peop le  who come.   I f  my 10 

memory  se rves me we l l ,  too ,  Cha i r.   I  a lso  remember  them 

say ing  tha t  the  da tabase is  o ld  and s ta le .   That  i t  is  peop le  

–  and tha t  o ther  m in is te rs  be fore  me have a lso  adver t i sed.    

 So the  adver t i s i ng ,  I  a lso  go t  to  know about  in  

the  depar tment  bu t  tha t  jus t  on  the  s ide .   So the  peop le  

who had been ve t ted ,  I  th ink  and I  rea l l y  do  th ink  they  

wou ld  on ly  be  the  peop le  who ac tua l l y  met  the  cr i t e r ia  fo r  

any o f  the  s ix  o r  t ha t  were  in  my . . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    Your  po r t fo l io .  

MS BROWN :    Yes,  in  my por t fo l io .  20 

CHAIRPERSON :    H ’m.   Yes.   But  I  th ink  what  you are  

say ing  is  in  l ine  w i th  what  I  was say ing .   

MS BROWN :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Namely,  on  your  unders tand ing  tha t  the  

Lega l  and Governance Un i t  o f  the  depar tment  had a  du ty  to  
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make sure  tha t  nobody –  nobody ’s  name was sent  to  you  

who had not  been  ve t ted .  

MS BROWN :    Yes,  tha t  i s  t rue .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja .   There  may be peop le  whose CV’s  

they rece ived tha t  they m ight  no t  have ve t ted .   You might  

no t  have issues w i th  tha t  as  long as  they do  not  send them 

to  you w i thout  ve t t ing  them.  

MS BROWN :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    So  tha t  i s  the  po in t  you are  –  tha t  i s  pa r t  

o f  the  po in t  you a re  mak ing .   And i f  you appo in ted  anybody  10 

who had not  been ve t ted ,  you a re  say ing  tha t  you wou ld  

have assumed tha t  they had been  ve t ted  because tha t  i s  

what  the  Lega l  and Governance  Un i t  in  your  depar tment  

was supposed to  have done.    

 And i f  they  d id  no t  ve t  somebody fo r  any 

par t i cu la r  reason ,  you wou ld  have  expected them to  br ing  

tha t  to  your  a t ten t ion  be fore  you cou ld  appo in t  tha t  person.   

I s  tha t  r igh t?  

MS BROWN :    Abso lu te ly.  

CHAIRPERSON :    H ’m.  20 

MS BROWN :    Abso lu te ly,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    H ’m.   Okay.   Mr  Se leka.  

ADV SELEKA SC :    Thank you,  Cha i r.   And then,  

Ms Dav ids (s i c )  on  –  we see tha t  i t  i s  no t  on ly  in  respect  o f  

the  board  and sub-commi t tees tha t  in fopor ta l  fea tures  bu t  
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a lso  i n  respect  o f  the  appo in tmen t  o f  Mr  R ichard  Se leke.   

And tha t ,  jus t  fo r  re fe rence purposes,  i s  on  page 1143 o f  

Bund le  7 .    

MS BROWN :    I s  tha t  the  bund le  we are  s t i l l  on? 

ADV SELEKA SC :    That  i s  cor rec t .   Page 1143,  you w i l l  

see  there  is  pa rag raph 14.12 wh ich  is  appo in tment  o f  

board  members  a t  A lexkor  and be low tha t  b ig  pa rag raph,  

you have appo in tment  o f  R ichard  Se leke a t  DPE.    

MS BROWN :    I t  i s  ac tua l l y  qu i te  to ta l l y,  I  have to  say to  

you tha t  –  because I  –  i f  you  wou ld  l i ke  me to ,  I  can te l l  10 

you how Richard  Se leke was appo in ted .  

ADV SELEKA SC :    Yes,  p lease ,  we want  you to  te l l  the 

Cha i rperson.  

MS BROWN :    So  Fundu –  tha t  Fundudz i  repor t  say  tha t  I  –  

and I  th ink  tha t  –  I  cannot  remember  bu t  they say I  

postponed two meet ings un t i l  R ichard  Se leke ’s  CV ar r i ves .  

ADV SELEKA SC :    Okay.    

MS BROWN :    And I  mean . . . [ in te rvenes]   

ADV SELEKA SC :    Can I  ass is t  you there?  

MS BROWN :    You can cor rec t  me say ing  the  wrong – 20 

because I  have not  read i t  fo r  a  wh i le .  

ADV SELEKA SC :    Yes.   I t  i s  about  the  adver t .   The  

pos i t ion  o f  DG in  the  DPE was adver t i sed.   I t  was fo r  the 

f i rs t  t ime around.   The adver t  d id  no t  –  o r  the  appo in tment  

was not  made and i t  was sa id  tha t  there  was non-
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compl iance w i th  the  Depar tment  o f  Pub l i c  Serv i ces ’ 

gu ide l ines  or  requ i rements .   Ms  Makho lo  tes t i f ied  about  

th is  as  we l l .    

MS BROWN :    Le t  me te l l  you  what  happened  

. . . [ in te rvenes]   

ADV SELEKA SC :    Yes.  

MS BROWN :    . . .bes ides who was there .  

ADV SELEKA SC :    H ’m?  

MS BROWN :    There  was a  meet ing  on  a  Fr iday,  la te 

a f te rnoon,  and the  compos i t ion  o f  the  peop le  who make the  10 

appo in tment ,  they are  two Min i s te rs ,  your  Deputy  Min is te r,  

a  DG and the  fu l l  complement  o f  the  HR Depar tment .   On 

tha t  Fr iday,  the  Min is te rs  who were  supposed to  come,  d id  

no t  a t tend.   So I  postponed the  meet ing  and i t  was  ac tua l l y  

on ly  one meet ing  tha t  I  pos tponed .   They say I  pos tponed  

two meet ings un t i l  the  th i rd  meet ing .    

 My pre fe r red  cho ice  as  DG was the  person who 

was ac t ing  DG.   He worked very  c lose ly  w i th  me.   He was,  I  

thought ,  was very  c lose  to  unders tand ing  the  issues  

around s ta te-owned compan ies  in  the  way  tha t  I  20 

unders tood.   So she was my pre fer red  cho ice .    

 However,  she fe l l  ou t  o f  the  f i rs t  adver t  tha t  was  

p laced because she d id  no t  meet  a l l  the  cr i te r ia .   And i f  my 

memory  serves me we l l ,  then the  c r i te r ia  tha t  she d id  no t  

meet  was tha t  she s t i l l  had to  do  a  modu le  o r  two modu les .   
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I  do  no t  know how many modu les  bu t  she s t i l l  had to  do  a  

modu le .    

 And I  remember  s t i l l  ask ing  her :   Can you not  

ge t  to  do  tha t  modu le  be fore  the  appo in tment?   And I  can 

te l l  you  the  reason why I  fe l t  so  s t rong ly  about  her  was  

because she unders tood the  por t fo l io  tha t  we were  in .   She 

was there  fo r  a  very  a  long t ime.    

 Then I  re -adver t i sed and there  were  two peop le  

who got  shor t l i s t ed  and I  d id  no t  know tha t  Se leke ’s  CV  

came th rough tha t  emai l  address.   I  s t i l l  do  no t  know tha t .    10 

ADV SELEKA SC :    H ’m.  

MS BROWN :    So  I  do  no t  know whose emai l  address tha t  

i t .   You must  remember,  I  sa id  ear l ie r,  tha t  I  asked h im 

when he became my DG:   Were  you –  i s  tha t  your  emai l  

add ress?  And he sa id  no .   So I  go t  the  then Min is te r  

O l iphant ,  Mi ld red  O l iphant  and he  is  s t i l l  a  Min is te r  now,  

Thu las  Nxes i .    

 And i t  was some –  I  cannot  remember  who the  

DG was and I  cannot  remember  i f  my Deputy  Min i s te r  was  

present .   And we had two app l i cants .   We had many  20 

app l i cants  fo r  the  job  bu t  there  were  no  natu ra l  f i t  o r,  even 

not  na tura l  f i t ,  even c lose  enough f i t  fo r  us  to  appo in t  a  DG 

for  the  depar tmen t .    

 And i t  had la rge ly  to  do  w i th  th ings,  l i ke ,  no  

unders tand ing  o f  the  Pub l ic  Serv i ce ,  no  unders tand ing  o f  
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s ta te-owned compan ies ,  no t  an  economic  –  a  

deve lopmenta l  economis t .   I t  was those k inds o f  a reas.   

Even a  lawyer,  I  th ink ,  wou ld  have he lped but  we d id  no t  

ge t  peop le  l i ke  tha t  to  app ly  and then the  adver t  went  ou t  

fo r  a  second t ime  and then two peop le  were . . .    

 A t  th is  t ime,  Ms  Makho lo  ac tua l l y  was to  her  

nominat ion  and we made a  dec i s ion  –  we then met  as  tha t  

g roup o f  Min is te rs  and we made the  dec is ion  fo r  R ichard  

Se leke.   So tha t  i s  my reco l lec t ion  o f  the  who le  even t .   And 

i t  was to  do  w i th  an  adver t  tha t  went  ou t  and a  response to  10 

the  adver t .   That  i s  how I  unders tood i t .  

ADV SELEKA SC :    Yes.   So . . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    Was the . . .   I  am sor ry,  Mr  Se leka.  

ADV SELEKA SC :    Yes,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Was the  –  was  one o f  the  requ i rements  

in  the  f i rs t  adver t ,  maybe a lso  in  the  second adver t ,  in  

te rms o f  academic  qua l i f i ca t ions tha t  the  cand ida tes  

needed to  have a  sen ior  degree or  a  masters?   In  o ther  

words,  a  jun io r  degree not  enough or  what  was the  

pos i t ion?  I f  you  can reca l l  . . . [ in te rvenes]   20 

MS BROWN :    I  cannot  ac tua l l y  remember  Cha i r  bu t  I  th ink  

tha t  you had to  have a t  leas t  a  p robab ly  a  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    Postgraduate?  

MS BROWN :    A post  degree.   

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja .   Ja ,  I  th ink  i t  . . . [ in te rvenes]   



22 MARCH 2021 – DAY 365 
 

Page 26 of 108 
 

MS BROWN :    You know,  I  th ink  –  i t  was qu i te  –  i t  is  qu i te  

a  h igh -end job  and so  you  had to  have  a  post  

. . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    [ Ind is t inc t ]   

MS BROWN :    . . .maybe not  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    I  th ink  Mr  Se leka  has go t  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

MS BROWN :    . . .a  specu la t ion  –  specu la t ing  on  what  I  

th ink .  

CHAIRPERSON :    No,  no  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

MS BROWN :    Th is  i s  jus t  what  I  th ink  wou ld  be .  10 

[Par t ies  invent ing  each o the r  –  unc lea r. ]  

CHAIRPERSON :    No,  I  th ink  Mr  Se leka has  go t  the  

re levant  document .   What  were  the  requ i rements?  

ADV SELEKA SC :    That  i s  cor rec t  Cha i r.   Th is  adver t  i s  o f  

13  –  the  c los ing  da te  i s  13  February  2015.    

:The requ i rements  fo r  the  job  is  an  appropr ia te  

postgraduate  qua l i f i ca t ion ,  a t  leas t  ten  years  

o f  exper ience in  re levant  sen io r  management  

pos i t ions  pre ferab le  in  the  Pub l i c  Secto r,  an  

appropr ia te  postg raduate  qua l i f i ca t ion . . . ”  20 

CHAIRPERSON :    H ’m.  

ADV SELEKA SC :    Then there  is  the  second one.   I f  I  may,  

Cha i r?  

CHAIRPERSON :    [No aud ib le  rep ly ]   

ADV SELEKA SC :    The one –  the  second one,  the  c los ing  
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da te  i s  the  23 r d  o f  September  2015.    

“The requ i rements  are  a  re levant  degree,  an  

appropr ia te  postgraduate  qua l i f i ca t ion  w i l l  be  

an  added advantage p lus  m in imum ten  years ’ 

exper ience in  re levant  sen io r  management  

pos i t ions  p re fe rab le  in  the  Pub l ic  Secto r. . . ”  

 That  i s  the  d is t inc t ion  be tween the  two.  

CHAIRPERSON :    So is  my unders tand ing  cor rec t  tha t  in  

te rms o f  the  f i rs t  adver t ,  a  postgraduate  degree  was an 

essent ia l  requ i rement  in  regard  to  the  second adver t ,  a  10 

postgraduate  degree was a  recommendat ion?  

ADV SELEKA SC :    Cor rec t ,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    I t  was no longer  an  essent ia l  

requ i rement?  

ADV SELEKA SC :    Cor rec t ,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    H ’m.  

ADV SELEKA SC :    I t  wou ld  have been an added  

advantage.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.   Does  tha t  acco rd  w i th  your  

reco l lec t ion  Ms B rown? 20 

MS BROWN :    I t  does not  bu t  i t  cou ld  have mean.   I  mean,  

I  do  no t  see why i t  shou ld  change.    

CHAIRPERSON :    H ’m.  

MS BROWN :    Bu t  i t  cou ld  be  tha t  we had so  few 

app l i cants  who ac tua l l y  –  and I  remember  I  have had  
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ac tua l l y  in  DG and the  Pub l ic  Serv ices  Commiss ioner  was  

on my back on  th is  one,  tha t  a f te r  a  year,  I  mean,  she  

shou ld  be  appo in ted  but  then she does not  have the  

requ is i te  qua l i f i ca t ion  fo r  i t .   So in  some respects ,  and I  

know tha t  the  cand ida tes  may  –  the  person invo lved 

ac tua l l y  spoke qu i te  much about  i t .    

 And so ,  I  d id  no t  rea l i se  tha t  she was hur t  to  

such an ex ten t  by  the  fac t  tha t  she  d id  no t  make i t .   Bu t  le t  

me get  back to  the  qua l i f i ca t ions.   I  do  no t  ac tua l l y  have a  

reco l lec t ion  o f  tha t  bu t  I  am k ind  o f  th ink ing  tha t  i t  m igh t  10 

be  tha t  we were  no t  ab le  to  have –  we are  no t  ge t t ing  the  

requ is i te  peop le  to  app ly.    

 So a  post  g rade wou ld  be  o f  bene f i t  –  wou ld  be  

benef ic ia l  and bu t  the ,  you know,  a  degree is  what  we are  

expect ing  f rom you.   So tha t  m ight  be  so  bu t  I  cannot  –  I  

rea l l y  cannot  –  I  cannot  say  tha t  I  can s tand on my head 

here  and te l l  you  tha t  th is  i s  my –  th is  i s  jus t  my v iew.    

CHAIRPERSON :    No,  no .   That  i s  f ine .   I t  i s  jus t  tha t  i f  the 

second adver t  re laxed the  academic  qua l i f i ca t ions a  b i t  

compared to  the  f i rs t  one and the re fore  no  longer  made a  20 

postgraduate  degree an essent ia l  requ i rement .   I t  wou ld  

mean tha t  even i f  your  p re fer red  cand ida te  d id  no t  have  

the  –  no t  comple ted  her  postgraduate  degree,  she  wou ld  

be  e l ig ib le  to  be  cons idered.    

 And o f  course ,  I  wou ld  imag ine  tha t  i f  somebody  
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e lse  had a  postgraduate  degree  and wh ich  she  d id  no t  

have,  maybe she  was le f t  w i th  on ly  one modu le  bu t  taken 

together  w i th  he r  exper ience in  the  depar tment  and her  

ac t ing  s t reak o f  about  a  year,  I  th ink  you sa id ,  she might  

we l l  have been  cons idered to  be ,  you know,  the  most  

su i tab le  cand ida te  desp i te  no t  hav ing  a  postgraduate  

degree.    

 Now I  ment ion  tha t ,  be ing  a l i ve  to  the  fac t  tha t  

you sa id  she w i thdrew her  app l i ca t ion .   So I  am a l i ve  to  

tha t .   But  I  am jus t  say ing ,  i t  i s  in te res t ing  tha t ,  f i rs t ,  a  10 

postgraduate  degree was requ i red  and then in  the  second 

adver t  she w i thd rew even though  the  requ i rements  had 

been re laxed.    

 But  I  do  no t  know now whether  she w i thd rew 

before  the  second adver t  went  ou t  o r  a f te r  bu t  she was no  

longer  a  cand ida te .   But  she wou ld  have been e l ig ib le  to  be  

cons idered,  a t  leas t .   I f  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

MS BROWN :    No ,  I  do  no t  th ink  so  Cha i r.    

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja .  

MS BROWN :    I  th ink ,  i f  my memory  serves me we l l  and 20 

you know,  I  wou ld  rea l l y  l i ke  –  I  am say ing  my memory  

must  se rve  me we l l ,  bu t  I  th ink  she was a lso  in  the  Pub l ic  

Serv i ce  fo r  e igh t  years  and not  ten .   I  th ink  i f  I  fa l te red  in  

anyth ing  is  tha t  I  wro te  –  I  –  i f  I  were  to  have a  hand in  

wr i t ing  tha t  second adver t ,  then –  because the  Se leke has 
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a  post  g rade.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

MS BROWN :    Bu t  i f  I  had a  hand in  –  I  cou ld  have sa id :   

But  why do we not  re lax?   We now have an exper t .   The 

on ly  p rob lem wi th  th is  exper t  i s  tha t  she does not  meet  

c r i te r ia .   And tha t  the  cr i te r ia ,  ac tua l l y,  i s  more  a  ba r r ie r  to  

us  hav ing  a  good  cand ida te  than i t  i s  a  bar r ie r  to  us  hav ing  

a  poor  cand ida te .   She is  a  good cand ida te  and  I  m ight  

have –  I  do  no t  know.   I  do  l i ke  in te r fe r ing  in  the  wr i t ing  o f  

tha t  . . . [ in te rvenes ]   10 

CHAIRPERSON :    Second adver t .  

MS BROWN :    . . .adver t  bu t  I  –  I  must  te l l  you ,  honest ,  she 

was my pre fer red  cand ida te .   I  s t i l l  th ink  she is  one  o f  the  

best  peop le  who unders tands s ta te-owned compan ies .   And 

so  I  s t i l l  th ink  tha t  bu t  I  th ink  she d id  no t  qua l i f y  fo r  i t .   And 

then the  o ther  fe l low.   Wi th in  tha t  meet ing  tha t  we were  in  

w i th  the  two Min i s te rs ,  the  DG and so  on ,  Se leke ac tua l l y  

per fo rmed much  bet te r  than the  o ther  cand ida te  and a  

number  o f  i ssues but ,  I  mean,  jus t  on  tha t  a lone.    

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  okay.   Mr  Se leka.  20 

ADV SELEKA SC :    Thank you,  Cha i r.   Ms Brown,  when we 

go back to  th is  repor t  where  you ta lk  about  the  CV o f  

Mr  Se leke be ing  exchanged w i th  Ms K im  Dav ids .   

Paragraph 17.48 –  we l l ,  I  can  s ta r t  a t  17 .47  wh ich  reads:  

“We dete rmined  tha t  on  21  June 2015,  
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b lueber r ies .sok [a  Gmai l ]  sent  an  emai l  sent  

an  emai l  to  in fopor ta l ,  t i t l ed :   R ichard  CV,  

s ta t ing  the  fo l low ing:  

Even ing ,  s i r.   P lease f ind  a t tached  my CV and 

suppor t ing  documents .   Regards R ichard . . . ”  

 And 17.48 says:  

“We dete rmined  tha t  on  the  same date ,  

21  June 2015,  in fopor ta l1@zoho.com 

forwarded R ichard  Se leke ’s  CV to  Dav ids  on  

emai l  address anck imwc@gmai l  s ta t ing :  10 

H i ,  Madam.   As per  s i r,  th is  i s  the  cand ida te  

fo r  DG.   I s  i t  poss ib le  to  fo r  h im to  meet  

Madam on Tuesday?. . . ”  

 Now th is  i s  in  June 2015.   The c los ing  da te  fo r  

the  adver t  has l ong c losed in  February  2015.   You  are  ye t  

to  adver t i se  in  September  2015,  the  CV i s  sent  in  the  

m idd le  o f  the  year  and there  i s  a  request .   Wel l ,  an  

ind ica t ion ,  th is  i s  the  cand ida te  fo r  DG and a  request  to  

meet  w i th  Madam on Tuesday.   Cou ld  the  meet ing  w i th  

Madam be a  re ference to  yourse l f?  20 

MS BROWN :    I  do  no t  know.   I  rece ived a  request  f rom 

Mr  Se leke h imse l f  and i t  asked i f  he  cou ld  have a  word  –  i f  

he  cou ld  speak to  me about  i t  and I  took  o f f  a  long,  you 

know. . .   I  do  no t  know i f  an  o f f i c ia l ,  an  adv i sor  to  have a  

conversa t ion  w i th  me.   I  d id  no t  ge t  tha t  –  a l l  tha t  s tu f f  that  
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you  are  speak ing  about  now.  

ADV SELEKA SC :    Yes.  

MS BROWN :    I  rece ived a  le t te r  f rom h im.   Wel l ,  no t  a  

le t te r.   Yes,  a  le t te r,  ac tua l l y  f rom h im,  ask ing  to  meet  w i th  

me.  

ADV SELEKA SC :    H ’m.  

MS BROWN :    I  took  i t  a l l  –  i t  took  a  long befo re  I  d id  

because there  were  lo ts  and lo ts  o f  requests  l i ke  tha t  and 

o ther  requests  bu t  I  d id  eventua l l y  meet  h im.   And i t  was 

out  o f  my head  unt i l  the  issue  came to  me hav ing  to  10 

appo in t  cand ida tes  fo r  –  o r  hav ing  to  approve cand ida tes  

fo r  the  appo in tment  o f  DG.  

ADV SELEKA SC :    H ’m.   Can you reca l l ,  when  was the  

meet ing?  

MS BROWN :    Oh ,  I  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

ADV SELEKA SC :    I  mean,  wh ich  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

MS BROWN :    I  do  no t  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

ADV SELEKA SC :    Which  year?   Which  t ime . . . [ in te rvenes]   

MS BROWN :    I  cannot  te l l  you .   I t  i s  2015.  

ADV SELEKA SC :    H ’m.  20 

MS BROWN :    I  am sure  i t  i s  in  2015 somewhere .   That  i s  

a t  leas t  s ix  years  ago.  

CHAIRPERSON :    You . . . [ in te rvenes]   

MS BROWN :    And i t  was a  very  shor t  meet ing  

CHAIRPERSON :    H ’m.  
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MS BROWN :    I  met  h im,  had a  co f fee ,  sa id  to  h im  p lease,  

pu t  in  your  CV.   You know,  you sound fan tas t ic .   Wi th  any –  

what  I  w i l l  say  to  anybody e lse  as  we l l .  

CHAIRPERSON :    H ’m.  

MS BROWN :    Pu t  in  you r  CV and then I  had fo rgo t ten  

about  i t  un t i l  I  saw i t  in  the  quest i ons o f  Fundudz i .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Was –  do  you reca l l  whether  the  reason  

why he wanted to  meet  w i th  you  was to  ind ica te  tha t  he 

was cons ide r ing  mak ing  h imse l f  ava i lab le  fo r  cons idera t ion  

as  a  cand ida te  fo r  DG? 10 

MS BROWN :    Yes,  I  th ink  tha t  cou ld  be  the  reason.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

MS BROWN :    I  th ink  tha t  i s  the  log ica l  –  fo r  me tha t  wou ld  

be  a  log i ca l  exp lanat ion .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

MS BROWN :    I  m igh t  no t  and  he might  no t  have a  

conversa t ion  w i th  me to  say:   Look,  I  rea l l y  want  to  be  the  

DG o f  th is  and tha t  and so  on .   In  a  shor t  wh i le  a f te r  I  have  

met  –  and I  th ink  th is  surpr ise  most  peop le .   A f te r  I  met 

somebody,  I  sor t  o f  assess what  i t  i s  tha t  they want  to  ta lk  20 

about  because o f ten  say:   I  wou ld  l i ke  to  speak  to  you 

about  the  economy.   Or :   I  wou ld  l i ke  to  speak to  you about  

my re la t ionsh ip  w i th  Eskom.   Or  someth ing .  

CHAIRPERSON :    H ’m.  

MS BROWN :    Bu t  some o f  the  peop le  I  meet  and I  ca l l  
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them in to  the  o f f i ce .   Numerous meet ings happened in  my  

o f f i ce .    

CHAIRPERSON :    H ’m.  

MS BROWN :    Bu t  I  remember  tha t  he  –  he  came 

downsta i r s  and cou ld  no t  ge t  in to  the  bu i ld ing  fo r  some odd  

reason and I  sa id  jus t  meet  me a t  the  co f fee  shop .   I  am 

walk ing  down.  

CHAIRPERSON :    H ’m.  

MS BROWN :    And I  d id  tha t .  

CHAIRPERSON :    H ’m.  10 

MS BROWN :    I  th ink  tha t  i s  what  I  d id  because i t  i s  a  long 

t ime ago.  

CHAIRPERSON :    H ’m,  h ’m.  

MS BROWN :    Bu t  I  d id  no t  go  a lone.  

CHAIRPERSON :    H ’m.  

MS BROWN :    I ,  ac tua l l y,  went  w i th  –  I  th ink  w i th  an  

adv isor  because i t  was in  Cape Town.   So my o f f ic ia ls  a t  

tha t  t ime were  no t  necessar i l y  in  Cape Town wi th  me.   So I  

went  w i th  an  adv i so r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Wel l ,  I  guess,  you are  probab ly  r igh t  tha t  20 

he  must  have wanted to  ta lk  to  you about  the  poss ib i l i t y  o f  

h im mak ing  h imse l f  ava i lab le  because you say you to ld  h im 

to  pu t  in  h i s  app l i ca t ion  or  CV.   So tha t  seems to  t ie  in  w i th  

a  d iscuss ion  about  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

MS BROWN :    Yes.  
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CHAIRPERSON :    . . . the  pos i t ion .   Would  you ac tua l l y  

accept  tha t?  

MS BROWN :    Bu t  no t  the  cent ra l  par t  o f  the  d iscuss ion .   

The cent ra l  par t  o f  the  d i scuss ion ,  I  –  and tha t  i s  why I  am 

say ing  to  you tha t  i t  p robab ly  led  to  tha t .  

CHAIRPERSON :    H ’m.  

MS BROWN :    And I  say :   Put  your  app l i ca t ion  in .  

CHAIRPERSON :    H ’m.   So you . . . [ in te rvenes]   

MS BROWN :    Bu t  I  agree. . .   Cha i r,  I  am agree ing  w i th  you.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  bu t  i s  the  po in t  you a re  mak ing  tha t  10 

the  pu rpose o f  the  meet ing  m igh t  have been someth ing  

e lse  and the  i ssue o f  h im mak ing  h imse l f  ava i lab le  fo r  the  

pos i t ion  o f  DG might  have come in  a t  the  end  o f  the  

d iscuss ion  . . . [ in tervenes]   

MS BROWN :    Yes.   Yes,  i t  was someth ing  l i ke  tha t .   I t  was  

not  as  s t ra igh t fo rward  as :   I  wou ld  l i ke  to  be  the  new DG.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja .   So.   But  you cannot  remember  what  

the  main  po in t  was tha t  he  wanted to  canvas w i th  you? 

MS BROWN :    No,  I  do  remember  tha t  I  l i ked  the  idea tha t  

he  was a  deve lopment . . .   I  do  remember  th is  very  20 

spec i f i ca l l y.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

MS BROWN :    That  he  was a  deve lopmenta l  exper t  in  the 

area o f  Land and Agr icu l tu re  and so  fo r th  and tha t  he  

managed b ig  compan ies .   No t  b ig  compan ies ,  b ig  
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paras ta ta ls .   So I  remember  tha t  par t  o f  i t  and ta lk ing  a  b i t  

about  the  economy and so  on  but ,  you know,  tha t  cou ld  

have a l so  been in  the  conversa t ion  tha t  we ac tua l l y  had.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja ,  ja .  

MS BROWN:    I  do  no t  know,  Cha i r,  i t  was a  long t ime ago.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja ,  no ,  no ,  no .   And is  your  reco l lec t ion  

tha t  tha t  meet ing  tha t  you had w i th  h im took p lace a t  some 

s tage a f te r  the  f i rs t  adver t  had gone out  and before  the  

c los ing  da te  in  te rms o f  the  second adver t?  

MS BROWN:    I  th ink  i t  makes sense.  10 

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

MS BROWN:    I  cannot  te l l  you  tha t  tha t  i s  my  ac tua l  

answer  bu t  i t  makes sense tha t  i t  cou ld  have been l i ke  

tha t .   I t  was not  fo r  the  f i rs t  adver t s .    

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  okay,  a l r igh t .   Mr  Se leka?  

ADV SELEKA SC:    Thank you.   Jus t  to  –  Ms Brown,  jus t  to  

f in ish  o f f  on  th is ,  has i t  surpr ised  you to  see the  l eve l  to  

wh ich  emai ls  were  be ing  exchanged between In fopor ta l  and  

Ms K im Dav ids?  

MS BROWN:    I  am a lways very  unsure  why you want  to  20 

ask  whether  I  –  the  emot iona l  pa r t  o f  the  quest ion  bu t  I  

was very  su rpr i sed.  

ADV SELEKA SC:    Yes.   Okay.   I  wou ld  l i ke  to  dea l  w i th ,  

Cha i r,  i f  I  may …[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON :    Bu t  I  am sor ry,  Ms Brown – we l l  i f  what  
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the  Fundudz i  repor t  says is  co r rec t  in  te rms o f  lo t  o f  

communica t ions be tween Ms Dav ids  and th i s  In fopor ta l  

emai l  address,  i f  the  emai l s  tha t  they say were  exchanged  

between the  In fo rpo r ta l  address and Ms Dav ids  and the  

content  o f  a t  leas t  some o f  those  emai ls ,  i f  tha t  i s  t rue ,  i t  

seems to  be  tha t  i t  cou ld  be  concern ing ,  i t  shou ld  be  

concern ing  a t  leas t  in  regard  to  some o f  the  emai ls  

because w i thout  go ing  to  any spec i f i c  one some o f  the  

emai ls  seem to  i nvo lve  an  outs ide  pe rson qu i te  a  lo t  so  I  

am wonder ing  whether  tha t  i s  par t  o f  what ,  you  know,  10 

surpr i ses  you or  i t  i s  someth ing  e lse?  

MS BROWN:    No ,  i t  does surpr ise  me,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    As  you see I  am say ing  i f  a l l  o f  tha t  i s  

t rue ,  you know? 

MS BROWN:    That  i s  pa r t  o f  the  d i lemma I  have,  Cha i r,  

par t  o f  d i lemma I  have and,  you know,  a t  one s ta te  when 

the  Fundudz i  repor t  came out  –  o r  no t  –  I  never  saw i t  un t i l  

the  Commiss ion  gave i t  to  me.   The Depar tment  o f  Pub l ic  

Enterp r ises Min is te r  se t  up  th i s  invest iga t ion  when he was 

F inance Min i s te r  in to  the  Depar tment  o f  Pub l i c  Enterp r ises.   20 

So i t  d id  no t  bo ther  me a t  a l l  tha t  there  was th is  

invest iga t ion  and  then there  were  a l l  these quest ions and I  

sa t  down and the  la te  S immy Leba la  was my advocate  and  

he sa id  to  me do  you want  he lp  w i th  i t?   I  sa id  no ,  I  can 

answer  these quest ions myse l f  and  I  sa id  –  in  about  twenty  
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m inu tes  I  sent  h im a l l  the  answers  and then he sa id  look,  I  

have got  to  pu t  i t  in to  a  par t i cu la r  fo rmat  and so  on .  

 A round the  t ime when I  rece ived i t  f rom the  

Commiss ion  as  a  f i xed  repor t ,  I  ac tua l l y  wanted  to  take  the  

mat te r  on  rev iew,  now because –  most ly  because i t  makes 

so  many assumpt ions based on par t i cu la r  word ing  or  a  

par t i cu la r  th i s  o r  tha t  and i t  k ind  o f  a lso  used the  

newspaper  s tu f f  as  ways o f  ge t t ing  i t .   So  I  was – I  must  be  

honest  w i th  you,  my lawyers  then sa id  to  me we wi l l  ho ld  

back the  Commiss ion  because then they s t i l l  have to  ru le  10 

on  tha t  and I  d id  no t  th ink  –  I  ac tua l l y  d id  no t  th ink  too  

much about  i t ,  I  thought  we l l ,  the  Commiss ioner  w i l l  see ,  

you w i l l  see  tha t  i t  has  no t  been a  s igned document  and so  

on  and then they  w i l l  make a  dec is ion  about  how,  how i t  

w i l l  be  dea l t  w i th .    

 So,  in  some respects ,  there  is  a  par t  o f  me tha t  

w ish  I  d id  take  i t  on  rev iew.   A t  o ther  respects ,  yes  o f  

course  I  am su rpr ised,  I  am shocked about  some th ings 

and so  on ,  i f  i t  i s  t rue ,  bu t  tha t  i s  jus t  the  po in t  I  wanted to  

make about  the  Fundudz i  repor t  because the  Fundudz i  20 

repor t  goes fu r ther  to  say tha t  I  gave some land to  

somebody who –  and then I  sent  a  CV o f  somebody ’s  to  

UWC.   They go fu r ther  to  say a l l  those k ind  o f  th ings and I ,  

you know,  f rank ly,  d id  I  commi t  f raud,  cor rup t ion  in  i t?   No.  

I  th ink  i t  i s  jus t  to  no th ing  e lse  bu t  to  pu t  –  d id  I  g ive  land 
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–  d id  I  g ive  Transnet  land to  anyone?  No,  I  d id  no t .    

 So  I  fee l  l i ke  tha t  about  i t  bu t  I  am in  your  hands  

w i th  i t  and I  am happy to  answer  the  quest ions tha t  you  

ask  and I  th ink  i t  i s  impor tan t  to  ge t  to  the  bo t tom o f  a l l  

these th ings.  

 Yes,  no ,  no ,  no ,  tha t  i s  f ine ,  as  you hear  I  sa id  i f  i t  

i s  t rue  because some o f  the  th ings we – the  Commiss ion  

needs to  look  in to  much more  deeper  to  see what  the  fac ts  

a re  then take  i t  f rom there .   Okay.  

ADV SELEKA SC:    Thank you,  Cha i r.  10 

CHAIRPERSON :    Mr  Se leka?  

ADV SELEKA SC:    Thank you.   Ms Brown,  I  want  to  dea l  

w i th  a  s l igh t ly  d i f fe ren t  aspect .   The execut ives  tha t  were  

suspended,  le t  us  look a t  the i r  pos i t ion .   Mr  Matona had  

jus t  been appo in ted  e f fec t i ve  1  Oc tober  2015.   He was in  

tha t  pos i t ion  fo r  about  f i ve  months  be fore  h is  suspens ion  

on 11 March –  so r ry,  appo in ted  2014,  I  beg your  pa rdon,  1  

October  2014,  about  e leven mon ths  in to  tha t  pos i t ion  he  

gets  suspended on 11 March 2015.  

CHAIRPERSON :    You d id  no t  say  about  e leven  months  20 

in to  h is  pos i t ion .  

ADV SELEKA SC:    About  f i ve  mon ths  in to  h is  pos i t ion .  

CHAIRPERSON :    F ive  months ,  ja .  

ADV SELEKA SC:    I  am look ing  a t  my notes ,  see ing  the  11  

March,  Cha i rperson,  sor ry.   Okay,  so  1  October  2014 to  11  
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March  2015 he  gets  suspended.   On the  day o f  h is  

suspens ion  in  the  morn ing  p r io r  to  you jo in ing  the  board ,  

Ms Brown,  he  was busy present ing  h is  tu rna round s t ra tegy  

wh ich  he  repor t s  to  the  board  tha t  he  had shared w i th  the  

Deputy  Pres ident  be forehand.   Why was he …[ in tervenes]  

MS BROWN:    Where  are  you on?   Sor ry,  Advocate  Se leka,  

I  do  no t  know where  you are  now.   We were  jus t  on  one 

th ing  and you have moved to  someth ing  e lse ,  can you send 

me to  the  page you are  on?  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja ,  I  th ink  you need to  …[ in te rvenes]  10 

MS BROWN:    Or  a re  we jus t  go ing  to  jump around? 

CHAIRPERSON :    You need to  te l l  us  whether  you are  s t i l l  

on  the  Fundudz i  repor t  o r  we can take  tha t  away.  

MS BROWN:    Because I  wou ld  l i ke  to  go  fo r  –  Cha i r,  I  

wou ld  l i ke  a  two minute  break.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Oh,  yes ,  no ,  no ,  no .   Sha l l  we make i t  

…[ in te rvenes]  

MS BROWN:    Jus t  a  two minute  break qu ick ly.   I  had too  

much wate r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay,  no ,  no ,  le t  us  make more  than  20 

tha t ,  le t  us  make i t  ten  m inutes  and then we w i l l  come 

back.  

MS BROWN:    Oh ,  okay.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja ,  okay.  

MS BROWN:    Thank you.  
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CHAIRPERSON :    Le t  us  take  an ad jou rnment .  

MS BROWN:    Thank you,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    We ad jou rn .  

INQUIRY ADJOURNS 

INQUIRY RESUMES  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay,  le t  us  cont inue,  bu t  maybe I  

shou ld  j us t  men t ion  someth ing  tha t  I  th ink  everybody 

shou ld  know about  today in  case i t  has  no t  been  

communica ted .   My expecta t ion  fo r  today is  tha t  we shou ld  

be  ab le  to  f in ish  w i th  Ms Brown’s  ev idence befo re  l unch but  10 

a t  the  la tes t  by  luncht ime.   I  thought  I  must  jus t  ment ion  

tha t  so  tha t  everybody is  aware  a t  leas t  o f  what  my  

es t imat ion  is .   Mr  Se leka,  what  i s  your  own es t imat ion?  

ADV SELEKA SC:    I  have the  same idea in  m ind,  

Cha i rperson,  tha t  we shou ld  be  f in ished before  luncht ime.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja ,  okay a l r i gh t .   Okay,  le t  us  cont inue 

then.  

ADV SELEKA SC:    Thank you.   Thank you,  Cha i r.   Ms  

Brown,  I  d id  ind i ca te  I  want  to  dea l  w i th  someth ing  s l igh t ly  

d i f fe ren t .   P lease  then tu rn  to  Eskom bund le  7 ,  Cha i r.  20 

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

ADV SELEKA SC:    Page 512.  

MS BROWN:    I s  tha t  on  m ine as  we l l?  

ADV SELEKA SC:    Yes,  i t  i s .  

CHAIRPERSON :    What  i s  i t ,  tha t  must  be  A?  You sa id  
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there  i s  A and B?  

ADV SELEKA SC:    For  us  i t  i s  (A ) ,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Th is  one can go away o r  you w i l l  s t i l l  

come back to  i t?  

ADV SELEKA SC:    I t  can  be put  away.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay.   Good day,  Ms Brown.  

MS BROWN:    Good day,  Advocate  Se leka.  

ADV SELEKA SC:    A re  you there?  

MS BROWN:    I  am.  

ADV SELEKA SC:    Yes.  10 

MS BROWN:    I  am t ry ing  to  s i t  so  tha t  I  can be –  my 

fami ly  i s  te l l ing  me I  am not  s i t t ing  in  the  m idd le  and so  on  

and my ha i r  i s  no t  good and so  on ,  bu t  so  be  i t .   Okay,  am I  

r igh t  now? 

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja ,  we l l ,  I  do  no t  see anyth ing  wrong  

w i th  your  ha i r.  

MS BROWN:    Bu t  you do not  have,  Cha i r,  so  you  do not  

know the  prob lems we have w i th  ha i r.   Sor ry.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  Mr  Se leka?  

ADV SELEKA SC:    I  wou ld  l i ke  us  to  look  a t  the  ind iv idua l  20 

pos i t ions  o f  the  execut ives  pr io r  to  them – or  a t  the  t ime 

tha t  they a re  suspended.   You w i l l  see  f rom paragraph 15  

on page 512,  th is  i s  the  a f f idav i t  o f  Mr  Dan Marokane.   He 

wr i tes  about  h imse l f ,  he  exp la ins  tha t  he  became appo in ted  

in  the  pos i t ion  o f  DG Group  Cap i ta l  and the  bu i ld  
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p rogramme wi th  e f fec t  f rom 1  November  2014.   I  w i l l  s ta r t  

w i th  tha t  f i rs t .  

MS BROWN:    And the  bu i ld  p rog ramme? 

ADV SELEKA SC:    Yes.   And he goes on to  ta lk  about  

what  he  was ab le  to  ach ieve  a f te r  be ing  appo in ted  

permanent ly  on  th is  pos i t ion .   I  see  you are  smi l ing ,  Ms  

Brown.   He wr i tes  in  paragraph 16,  he  says:  

“Wi th in  a  per iod  o f  a  month . . . ”  

Wel l ,  le t  me read h is  pa ragraph 15.  

“ I  wou ld  remind you tha t  I  was appo in ted  to  the  ro le  10 

o f  Group Execut ive  Group Cap i ta l  f rom 1  November  

2014 a f te r  ho ld ing  the  Act ing  pos i t ion  fo r  the  per iod  

o f  a  year.   I  was  asked to  ac t  in  tha t  pos i t ion  a f te r  

the  depar tu re  o f  the  then respons ib le  execut ive ,  

Pau l  O ’F laher t y  in  August  2013 wh ich  fo l lowed the  

announcement  tha t  the  ta rge t  da te  o f  December  

2013 fo r  b r ing ing  the  f i rs t  un i t  o f  Medup i  power  

s ta t ion  on l i ne  was not  go ing  to  be  met  due to  s low 

pro jec t  execut ion .   Wi th in  a  per iod  o f  a  month  I  

rever ted  to  the  board  commi t tee  tha t  ove rsees mega  20 

pro jec ts  and c lear ly  a r t i cu la ted  th ree  a reas tha t  

needed to  be  reso lved. ”  

P lease go the  next  page,  page 513.   He w i l l  ta lk  about  the  

so lu t ions tha t  he  has in t roduced and put  in  p lace  cer ta in  

measures in  pa ragraph 18,  19 ,  20  and 21 and then in  
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parag raph 22 he says:  

“A l l  o f  the  above e lements  were  ident i f ied  as  c ruc ia l  

by  a  number  o f  independent  rev iews conducted by  

ex te rna l  par t ies  wh ich  rev iews were  done on beha l f  

o f  the  board .   Dur ing  my tenure  as  Group Cap i ta l  

execut ive  I  c rea ted mean ing fu l  and tang ib le  

p rogress in  the  execut ion  o f  var ious p ro jec ts  wh ich  

saw in  par t i cu la r  the  de l i very  o f  the  f i rs t  un i t  o f  

Medup i ,  ach ieved  one week pr io r  my suspens ion . ”  

And tha t  …[ in tervenes]  10 

MS BROWN:    Can I  ask  you,  Advocate ,  a re  you say ing  

tha t  Medup i  –  I  am jus t  t ry ing  to  f ind  i t ,  tha t  Medup i  un i t  1  

came on l ine  in  h is  pe r iod  o r  you  are  say ing  tha t  i t  came 

on l ine  a f te r  h i s  per iod?  

ADV SELEKA SC:    In  h is  per iod ,  he  sa id  he  b rought  i t  –  

he  brought  i t  on  l ine .  

MS BROWN:    Oh .  

ADV SELEKA SC:    One week pr io r  to  h is  suspens ion .  

MS BROWN:    Okay,  so  tha t  –  he  brought  i t  on l ine  on  the  

7 t h .  20 

ADV SELEKA SC:    Wel l ,  one week,  he  does not  g ive  a  

da te ,  p r io r  to  h is  suspens ion  but  th is ,  th is  was repor ted  o r  

recorded in  the  m inutes  o f  11  March  2015 jus t  be fore  you 

ar r i ved and the  board  says the  m in is te r  wou ld  l i ke  to  be  

inv i ted  to  such events  such as  th is  because i t  was an  
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impor tan t  event  and on tha t  day a  dec is ion  was made to  

have h im suspended and he had been there  permanent ly  

appo in ted  fo r  about  four  months .   D id  you know tha t ,  Ms  

Brown?  

MS BROWN:    Wel l ,  the  on ly  th ing  I  do  know,  S i r,  i s  tha t  I  

went  to  what  i s  ca l led  the  synchron isa t ion  o f  the  Medup i  

Un i t  1  about  –  I  th ink  i t  was in  2016 and synchron isa t ion  

does not  mean tha t  you get  megawat ts  ou t  o f  i t  ye t ,  

synchron isa t ion  on ly  means tha t  you are  s ta r t ing  to  pump i t  

up  so  tha t  in  about  s ix  months  t ime i t  w i l l  become a  fu l l y  10 

funct ion ing  un i t  and I  am do ing  someth ing  tha t  seems qu i te  

academic  because in  essence I  d id  no t  make the  dec i s ion  

to  suspend four  execut ives .    

I  a t tended what  I  ca l l  an  in fo rmal  meet ing  and I  to ld  

h im what  my prob lems were  and le t  me te l l  you ,  S i r,  tha t  

Medup i  and Kus i le ,  they were  –  the  s ta r t  o f  the i r  bu i l d  

p rogramme was 2007 w i th  cost  over runs tha t  now is  now 

creep ing  up to  R100 b i l l i on ,  no th ing  to  do  w i th  Mr  Dan 

Marokane but  we were  runn ing  beh ind  t ime,  we  were  –  

Eskom was spend ing  fo r tunes on i t .   So  they had both  cost  20 

over runs as  we l l  as  bu i ld  over runs .   So noth ing  was  coming  

on l ine .  

 So we d id  no t  have 4  800 megawat ts  to  add to –  I  

cannot  remember  the  words anymore ,  bu t  to  add to  

Eskom’s  d i sposab le  e lec t r i c i t y.    I  do  no t  know,  tha t  was my 
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p rob lem.   My p rob lem was in  fac t  tha t  the  bu i ld  p rogramme 

was way too  la te ,  i t  was cost ing  way too  much.   I t  was ove r  

R100 b i l l i on  a l ready and s ince  2009 i t  i s  s t i l l  no t  where  i t  

i s  supposed to  be .   I t  i s  no t  even be ing  synchron ised ye t .  

ADV SELEKA SC:    R igh t ,  yes .  

MS BROWN:    And I  am say ing  tha t  i t  i s  an  issue -  

comment  tha t  I  mak ing  to  you but  tha t  a rea  was  an area 

tha t  –  i t  d id  no t  mat te r  who the  person was,  the  area was  

an area tha t  I  fe l t  cou ld  have cu r ta i led  our  load shedd ings  

i f  on ly  we had tha t  p lan t  on l ine  a l ready.  10 

ADV SELEKA SC:    Yes,  the  s ta tement  you have made is  

the  very  po in t  o f  my quest ion  to  you because  he  makes 

tha t  s ta tement  in  the  next  parag raph tha t  the  prob lems tha t  

you are  h igh l igh t ing  and re fe r r ing  to  had noth ing  to  do  w i th  

h im.   Paragraph 23 he says:  

“ I t  i s  fo r  i n te r  a l ia  the  above reasons tha t  I  had o f  

the  op in ion  tha t  I  w i l l  va luab le  ins igh t  in  ass is t ing  

the  inqu i ry  to  es tab l i sh  and ident i f y  where  Eskom is  

w i th  regard  to  var ious pro jec t  de lays  and cost  

over runs.   A f te r  a l l ,  I  was spec i f i ca l l y  engaged to  20 

reso lve  these prob lems wh ich  were  pre-ex is t ing  and  

pre -dated my appo in tment  and were  obv ious ly  no t  

o f  my mak ing . ”  

And tha t  i s  exact ly  the  po in t  you are  mak ing ,  tha t  the  

prob lems had noth ing  to  do  w i th  h im,  he  has been there  fo r  
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about  four  months  and the  quest ion  is ,  why is  he  ta rge ted  

fo r  suspens ion?  

MS BROWN:    Bu t  I  to ld  you before ,  Advocate  Se leka,  I  

wanted the  inqu i ry  because tha t  i s  exact ly  the  quest ion  

tha t  I  wanted answered,  I  mean,  the  bu i ld  p rogramme 

quest ion .   That  i s  why I  suppor ted  the  inqu i ry.   Whether  the  

execut ives  remained fo r  th ree  months  or  no t ,  remember  i t  

was a  t h ree  month  s tep  as ide ,  i t  was not  –  and  a  s tep  

as ide ,  i t  was not  a  f i r ing  o f  them,  i t  was a  th ree  months  

s tepp ing  as ide .   So,  ja ,  I  w i l l  l eave i t  there .   I  am very  10 

longwinded,  I  a lso  want  to  go  a t  luncht ime.  

ADV SELEKA SC:    Yes,  I  th ink  you get  the  po in t  tha t  

whethe r  i t  i s  th ree  months  or  two months  or  in  th is  case  

u l t imate ly  they go t  r id  o f  them,  a  man who has been in  the  

pos i t ion  fo r  about  four  months  and  he says these prob lems 

predate  me,  I  d id  no t  cause them,  I  am t ry ing  to  reso lve  

them.  

MS BROWN:    Yes,  bu t  Advocate  Se leka –  and I  do  no t  

want  to  be  argumenta t ive  now …[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON :    Hang on,  Ms Brown …[ in te rvenes]  20 

MS BROWN:    You sa id  they go t  r id  o f  h im.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Hang on,  hang on,  hang on.  

MS BROWN:    Oh ,  sor ry,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Hang on,  le t  h im  f in ish  what  he  is  pu t t ing 

to  you f i rs t .  
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ADV SELEKA SC:    Ja ,  I  am not  say ing  you a re  t ry ing  to  

ge t  r id  o f  h im,  I  am say ing  whether  he  is  suspended fo r  

th ree  months  or  two months  or  one month  and we know in  

th is  case they u l t imate ly  go t  r id  o f  h im.   The po in t  he  is  

mak ing  was,  tha t  I  have noth ing  to  do  w i th  the  prob lems 

you have h igh l igh ted ,  you have in  fac t  appo in ted  me jus t  

fo r  the  past  four  months  and I  have been ab le  to  b r ing  the  

Medup i  un i t  on  l ine ,  why are  you ta rge t ing  me fo r  

suspens ion?  That  i s  the  po in t  I  was ra is ing  w i th  you,  bu t  

you have answered i t .   I f  you  want  –  can I  ge t  th rough to  10 

Mr  Matona?  

CHAIRPERSON :    Wel l ,  le t  her  answer  now.  

ADV SELEKA SC:    Okay.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Because I  d id  no t  –  I  s topped he r.   Ja ,  

answer  now,  Mr  Brown.  

MS BROWN:    Very  shor t l y,  Cha i r.   I  th ink  your  use o f  the  

words u l t imate ly,  and you are  no t  say ing  I  d id ,  you are  

say ing  u l t imate ly  they go t  r id  o f  h im.   Now I  am not  sure  

what  the  process  is  be tween –  was between the  board  and 

the  suspended execut ives .   Remember  I  wro te  tha t  le t te r  to  20 

them because I  d id  no t  know what  the  process was .   So in  

a  way you a re  ask ing  me a  quest ion  tha t  I  th ink  –  j a ,  I  th ink  

i t  i s  a  b i t  o f  an  un fa i r  quest ion ,  bu t  I  am answer ing  your  

quest ions,  Advocate  Se leka.  

ADV SELEKA SC:    Okay  Mr  Matona,  he  is  appo in ted  on 



22 MARCH 2021 – DAY 365 
 

Page 49 of 108 
 

the  1  October  2014.   He comes f rom your  depar tment ,  he 

goes to  Eskom.   He i s  there  about  f i ve  months .   The same 

fa te  be fa l l s  h im as Mr  Marokane.   The quest ion  is ,  why?  

MS BROWN:    The answer  to  your  quest ion  is  i t  was a  

th ree  month  suspens ion .   I t  was not  f i r ing  h im.   I  th ink  Mr  

Matona went  to  the  Labour  Cour t  and then the  Labour  

Cour t  sent  h im to  the  CCMA and I  do  no t   -  I  cannot  

remember  the  de ta i l  bu t  eventua l l y  he  took the  op t ion  o f  

ge t t ing  ou t .  

ADV SELEKA SC:    Bu t  you know …[intervenes]   10 

MS BROWN:    My issue remains ,  my issue,  whe ther  you  

ra ise  any o f  the  o ther  peop le ’s  names,  my issue remains .   

By  December  2015 I  ac tua l l y  read th is  morn ing  in  the  ear l y  

hours  tha t  we d id  no t  even have d iese l  to  keep the  l igh ts  

on .   There  was chaos in  government .   So you are  say ing  

tha t  a l l  o f  them were  do ing  the i r  jobs  and ac tua l l y  they 

were  a l l  pu t t ing  i n  p lace  the  processes tha t  were  go ing  to  

g ive  us  less  load shedd ing .   I f  you  look a t  the  speech tha t  I  

made in  the  house,  I  made the  same speech tha t  the  now 

Act ing  CE –  or  I  th ink  he  i s  the  CE Eskom made tha t  we  20 

w i l l  have load shedd ing  fo r  f i ve  years ,  peop le  were  su ing  

me because I  sa id  they were  go ing  to  have load shedd ing  

fo r  f i ve  years .   We d id  no t  see l igh t  a t  the  end o f  the  tunne l  

and fo r  some reason I  th ink  the  Commiss ion  is  no t  

unders tand ing  tha t .  
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 The Commiss ion  is  no t  unders tand ing  tha t  -  you  

know,  peop le  and  they r i gh t ly  so ,  I  d id  no t  go  ou t  because  

peop le  were  say ing  we bought  genera tors  because you  

sa id  we are  go ing  to  have load shedd ing  fo r  the  next  f i ve  

years .   Where  d id  I  ge t  tha t  in fo rmat ion  f rom?  From Eskom 

execut ives .   So I  d id  no t  see a  way c lea r,  I  d id  no t  see a 

way c lea r,  I  d id  no t  want  them to  go ,  I  jus t  wanted an  

unadu l te ra ted  inqu i ry  and a t  the  end o f  tha t  enqu i ry  we w i l l  

know what  we shou ld  do  because even though Mr  Matona  

makes the  po in t  to  a l l  o f  you,  to  the  Commiss ion ,  he  makes 10 

the  po in t  to  the  Labour  Cour t ,  he  makes the  po in t  

everywhere  tha t  he  had a  p lan .   The on ly  th ing  I  know i s  

tha t  the  answer  to  h is  p lan  tha t  we shou ld  be  the  R23 

b i l l i on  f rom Nat iona l  Treasury  and tha t  was go ing  to  take  a  

long t ime s t i l l .  

 There  was oppos i t ion  in  government  to  g iv ing  

Eskom or  ba i l ing  Eskom out .   There  was oppos i t ion  in  the 

pub l i c  sphere  to  g iv ing  Eskom o r  ba i l ing  Eskom ou t .   And 

who was the  face  o f  tha t  Eskom?  Me.   So I  had to  f ind  a 

so lu t ion  and I  found tha t  nobody had a  p lan .   The war  room 20 

was go ing  to  do  a  techn ica l  invest iga t ion .   Nobody is  go ing  

to  f i x  load shedd ing ,  nobody is  go ing  to  f i x  the  fac t  tha t  

Eskom cannot  pay i t s  workers .   That  i s  what  I  wanted to  

have f i xed .  

 So,  I  mean,  I  hear  what  you are  say ing  about  Mr  



22 MARCH 2021 – DAY 365 
 

Page 51 of 108 
 

Dan Marokane and when I  have a  b i t  more  t ime or  when I  

have –  when a l l  o f  th is  i s  done,  I  w i l l  read th rough a l l  o f  i t  

bu t  there  cou ld  have been a  p lan .   I  on ly  went  to  launch  

the  synchron isa t i on  –  and i t  takes  s ix  months  a f te r  Medup i  

i s  –  un i t  1  i s  synchron ised before  i t  ac tua l l y  comes  on l ine  

and then i t  does  not  come on l ine  w i th  a  la rge  amount  o f  

megawat ts ,  i t  comes on l ine  s lowly,  these are  huge p lan ts .   

I  have never  seen such huge p lan ts  in  my l i fe ,  bu t  they 

come on l ine  s lowly,  so  i t  i s  s t i l l  no t  go ing  to  he lp  us  w i th  

load shedd ing  and a l l  o f  those execut ives  were  the re  fo r  a l l  10 

the  per iod  o f  load shedd ing .   I  d id  no t  m ind e i ther  way  

whethe r  the  board ,  the  execut ives  remained o r  whethe r  

they went .   I  sa id  th is  yes terday as  we l l .   I  wanted to  know 

what  we were  go ing  to  do ,  what  must  happen fo r  us  to  ge t  

ou t  o f  th is  pos i t ion .  

ADV SELEKA SC:    Okay.   Ms Mole fe ,  as  you say,  the  

same th ing  w i l l  app ly  to  her  and you have read her  

supp lementary  a f f idav i t  where  she  a lso  dea ls  w i th  h is to r i c  

f inanc ia l  i ssues and what  caused these f inanc ia l  i ssues but  

over  and above tha t ,  the  board ,  as  the  Cha i rperson had 20 

ind ica ted  to  you ,  was in  fac t  – o r  some o f  the  board  

members ,  were  in  fac t  no t  in  favour  o f  hav ing  her  

suspended.   Do you have any comment  on  tha t  be fore  I  

move on?  

MS BROWN:    No,  I  have sa id  every th ing  I  wanted  to  say  
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about  the  execu t ives .   The remova l  o f  Mr  Tsots i  –  bu t  

be fore  I  do  tha t ,  le t  me te l l  you  what  Ms Mole fe  be l ieves.   

She was appo in ted  in  January  2014 as  the  FD,  the  CFO of  

Eskom.   She was 14 months  in to  the  job  when she got  

suspended.   In  tha t  yea r  2014,  a round Apr i l ,  she  was to ld  

tha t  the  corpo ra te  p lan ,  fund ing  p lan  she was present ing  to  

the  board  was no  robust  enough and Mr  Co l in  Mat j i la  sa id  I  

w i l l  ge t  somebody to  he lp  Eskom and lo  and beho ld ,  tha t  

person was Mr  Sa l im Essa and Mr  Sa l im Essa sa id  I  w i l l  

g ive  you Reg iments  to  do  the  job  fo r  you.   Reg iments  10 

teams up w i th  McK insey when they were  asked whethe r  

they –  when Reg iments  was asked whether  they have the  

capac i ty  to  p rov ide  the  job .    

They were  asked  to  p rov ide  a  proposa l  w i th in  f i ve  

days as  per  the i r  under tak ing ,  they d id  no t  do  so ,  they 

gave a  proposed agreement  a f te r  14  days.   She re fused to  

s ign  tha t  agreement  and she went  in to  loggerheads  w i th  Mr  

Mat j i la ,  to  some exten t  the  board  de fended her  bu t  

Reg iments  was s t i l l  appo in ted  but  on ly  to  do  a  h igh  leve l  

desktop exerc ise .  20 

 She th inks  because o f  her  re fusa l  to  s ign  tha t  

agreement  fo r  Reg iments  she mus t  have been ta rge ted by  

Mr  Sa l im Essa and u l t imate ly  removed f rom her  pos i t ion .   

You …[ in tervenes ]  

MS BROWN:     I  was not  there  in  Apr i l  2014 so  I  do  no t  
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know and,  I  mean,  you know,  I  fee l  lo ts  o f  th ings,  i t  does  

not  mean i t  i s  t rue .   I  th ink  i t  must  a l l  be  tes ted .   I  rea l l y  

th ink  a l l  o f  th is  must  be  tes ted  because I  was not  there  in  

Apr i l  2014,  I  ac tua l l y  on ly  came in  May 2014,  in  fac t  a t  the  

end o f  May,  the  26  May 2014.  

ADV SELEKA SC:    No,  I  apprec ia te  tha t .  

MS BROWN:    So  I  do  no t  know about  i t .   You know,  I  a lso  

fee l  peop le  are  a t tack ing  me and dong th ings to  me and so  

on  but  I  have to  t es t  i t ,  I  have got  to  repor t  i t  somewhere ,  I  

have got  to  te l l  peop le  th is  i s  happen ing ,  I  have to  have i t  10 

invest iga ted .   I f  I  have money,  I  must  take  i t  to  cour t .   We 

a l l  have to  tes t  th is .   I  do  no t  know.  

ADV SELEKA SC:    Yes.  

MS BROWN:    I  am ve ry  sor ry,  I  cannot  answer  –  because  

Reg iments  i s  the  f ron t runner  to  Tr i l l i an  and I  go t  very  bad ly  

burn t  by  tha t  one when I  was supposed to  have  

inadver ten t ly  l ied  to  par l iament .   So I  do  no t  know,  I  was 

not  there .  

ADV SELEKA SC:    Yes,  no  I  apprec ia te  in  Apr i l  2014 you 

were  no t  there  bu t  have repr isa l  –  apparent  rep r isa l  i s  20 

exper ienced in  March 2011 and thereaf te r  and what  we see  

–  can I  take  i t  fu r ther?   She gets  u l t imate ly  rep laced by  Mr  

Ano j  S ingh and on h i s  watch  Reg iments  ge t  a  cont rac t  a t  

Eskom and u l t imate ly  Tr i l l i an ,  they ge t  to  be  engaged a t  

Eskom and pa id  huge amounts  o f  money but  under  the  
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watch  o f  Mr  Ano j  S ingh.  

MS BROWN:    I  do  no t  have a  v iew on tha t .  

ADV SELEKA SC:    No comment  on  tha t .  

MS BROWN:    I  th ink  i t  someth ing  tha t  must  be  tes ted .  

ADV SELEKA SC:    Then I  can –  bu t   what  we see aga in  i s  

tha t  one person,  tha t  one person who seems permeate  

whatever  i s  happen ing  there ,  Mr  Sa l im Essa,  because you  

w i l l  reca l l  a lso  about  the  meet ing  on  the  10  March 2015 

tha t  he  sa id  the  execut ives  w i l l  be  suspended  in  the 

manner  tha t  i t  tu rned out  to  be .   But  we have done tha t ,  I  10 

am jus t  pa in t ing  th is  p ic tu re  to  you so  tha t  you can see  

what  apparent ly  i t  i s  an  ex te rna l  in f luence br ing ing  i t s  

musc les  to  bear  on  Eskom.  

 Then Mr  Tsots i ’s  remova l ,  i f  I  may move there .   Now 

Mr  Tsots i  ta lks  about  a  meet ing  he  had w i th  you  or  you 

ca l led  h im to  a  meet ing  jus t  be fore  the  SONA in  2014.   

Remember  where  you te l l  h im about  h im in te r fe r i ng  w i th  

management?  

MS BROWN:    Yes,  I  do  remember.  

ADV SELEKA SC:    Yes and tha t  i f  he  does not  s top  you 20 

w i l l  ge t  somebody e lse  to  do  h is  job .   I  see  you are  

smi l ing .  

MS BROWN:    I  sm i le  because I  th ink  i t  i s  abso lu te  

nonsense.   Cha i r,  I  am smi l ing  a t  –  I  am t ry ing  to  ge t  i t  on  

my –  because I  have been wr i t ing  on  my page because I  
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am abso lu te ly  as tounded tha t  Mr  Tsots i  over  such  a  long  

per iod  o f  t ime ac tua l l y  w i thout  a  recorde r,  w i thout  tak ing  a  

record ing  o f  my words and he pu ts  i t  in  inver ted  commas 

as exact  words tha t  I  used.   I  have  to ld  you tha t  we d id  no t  

have an easy re la t ionsh ip .   I  do  no t  th ink  I  had easy 

re la t ionsh ips  w i th  a  lo t  o f  peop le .   I  am very  fo r th r igh t  and  

so  –  and i t  i s  no t  a lways very  easy to  accept .  

ADV SELEKA SC:    Bu t  may I  ask  you th is ,  a re  you 

. . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:    Do you want  to  le t  her  see i f  she  gets  10 

the  page she is  l ook ing  fo r.  

ADV SELEKA SC:    Oh.  

CHAIRPERSON:    I  th ink  she is  look ing  fo r  a  page where  

she made comments  tha t  a re  re levant  to  her  answer  to  your  

quest ion .  

ADV SELEKA SC:    Okay,  thank you Cha i r.  

MS BROWN:    I  have the  page Cha i r,  and I  see  tha t  Mr  

Tsots i  says  tha t  I  te l l  h im tha t  we ’ re  go ing  to  par t  ways and 

tha t  he  must  do  h is  job  o therwise  “ I ’ l l  rep lace h im wi th  

somebody e lse” ,  abso lu te  d i rec t  words tha t  he  says  I  sa id ,  20 

I  abso lu te ly  deny tha t  I  don ’ t  th ink  anyone shou ld  be  

th rea tened verba l l y  w i th  the i r  job ,  I  th ink  tha t  i s  a  process  

tha t  has to  happen.   I f  there ’s  any re la t ionsh ip  b reakdown 

between the  pe rson in  charge and  some –  the  pe rson tha t  

accounts  to  them,  there  shou ld  be  –  so ,  I  abso lu te l y  deny 
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tha t .   The issue about  tha t  weekend,  i t  was the  day be fo re  

SONA,  the  issue is  tha t  I  t i cked h im o f f  fo r  in te r fe r ing  in  an  

opera t iona l  mat te r.   Now,  I  don ’ t  care  who wro te  the  le t te r  

the  le t te r  does no t  be long in  the  non-Execut ive  Commi t tees 

D iv i s ion  and the  Cha i r  fo r  tha t  mat te r  and I  make a  m is take 

in  my –  because  i t  was a  very  vague issue fo r  me but  i t  

was Mr  Matona,  and tha t ’s   why I  took  i t  up  w i th  h im,  

because –  I  took  i t  up  w i th  h im because the  CE came to  me 

and to ld  me,  look  a t  th is  le t te r,  th is  i s  the  le t te r  Mr  Tsots i  

has wr i t ten  and many o f  these th ings happen a l l  the  t ime.  10 

 I  th ink  the  South  A f r i can pub l i c  shou ld  be  gra te fu l  

tha t  I  don ’ t  want  the  non-Execut ive  D i rec to rs  to  be  

in te r fe r ing  in  an  opera t iona l  mat te r  espec ia l l y  p rocurement  

and o f  course  there ’s  lo t  o f  exp lanat ions as  to  why he d id  

i t ,  bu t  the  po in t  i s ,  tha t  must  no t  happen.   You don ’ t  

p rocu re  as  –  in  your  persona l  capac i ty  in  tha t  way.  

ADV SELEKA SC:    Ms Brown…[ in tervenes] .  

MS BROWN:    So  tha t  was the  a rgument  I  had w i th  h im.  

ADV SELEKA SC:    Ms Brown…[ in tervenes] .  

CHAIRPERSON:    I ’m  sor ry  Mr  Se leka,  so  is  the  pos i t ion  20 

tha t  you admi t  tha t  on  tha t  day,  a  meet ing  d id  take  p lace  

between –  wh ich  invo l ved you and  Mr  Tsots i .  What  you do 

not  accept  i s  what  he  says you sa id  to  h im in  terms o f ,  

e f fec t i ve ly,  th rea ten ing  to  ge t  r id  o f  h im immedia te ly  i f  he  

was not  do ing  h i s  job ,  you say,  the  d i scuss ion  was about  
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someth ing  e lse ,  namely,  you were  say ing  to  h im,  he  shou ld  

s top  in te r fe r ing  in  opera t iona l  mat te rs ,  i s  tha t  co r rec t?  

MS BROWN:    I  ca l led  h im to  tha t  meet ing ,  Cha i r,  because  

jus t  be fore  he  was in  –  be fore  I  ca l led  h im,  I  knew they 

were  a l l  up  in  Cape Town because i t  was SONA.   So,  I  

ca l led  h im a f te r  Mr  Matona brought  me the  le t te r  –  and I  

know one th ing  fo r  su re ,  tha t  i t  was a  Japanese company,  

102,  i t ’s  no t  buy ing  o i l  o r  fue l ,  i t  was par ts ,  I  mean,  tha t ’s  

an  inco r rec t  i ssue there  and then Mr  Matona sa id  tha t  was 

the  spec i f i c  i ssue  tha t  he  ra ised w i th  me and I  –  bu t  I  th ink  10 

th is  th ing  w i th  Mr  Tsots i  and I  came a  l i t t le  b i t  ear l ie r  

a l ready because  the  D i rec tors  o f  the  S ta te  owned 

compan ies  are  –  and the  Cha i rs  a re  no t  Execut ive  Cha i rs ,  

so  they ’ re  no t  a l lowed excess or  excess i ve  use o f  

resources.   So,  you might  have a…. [ in te rvenes] .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  bu t  my quest ion  is ,  whether  I ’m  

cor rec t  in  unders tand ing ,  tha t  you  say,  a  meet ing  d id  take  

p lace invo lv ing  you and h im…[ in te rvenes] .  

MS BROWN:    I t  d id .  

CHAIRPERSON:    And i t  took  p lace on the  day tha t  he  says 20 

i t  d id ,  the  d i f fe rence is  tha t  you say,  the  meet ing  was to  

d iscuss h i s  a l leged in te r fe rence in  opera t iona l  mat te rs ,  he  

says,  you sa id  to  h im you wou ld  f ind  somebody e lse  i f  he  

d idn ’ t  do  h is  job  or  someth ing  to  tha t  e f fec t .   That ’s  the 

on ly  d i f fe rence  between the  two o f  you about  what  
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happened in  tha t  meet ing ,  i s  tha t  cor rec t?  

MS BROWN:    On ly  the  f i rs t  –  the  o ther  d i f fe rence is  tha t  

you can ’ t  pu t  m ine in  inver ted  commas because mine is  no t  

verbat im,  h is  i s  verbat im.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  okay,  Mr  Se leka.  

ADV SELEKA SC:    Thank you.   Ms Brown i sn ’ t  i t ,  w i th  

respect  to  you,  i ron i c  tha t  the  Min is te r  a t  the  t ime,  a lso  

engaged in  opera t iona l  mat te rs  a t  Eskom? 

MS BROWN:    In  wh ich  opera t iona l  mat te rs?  

ADV SELEKA SC:    The one o f  the  11 t h  o f  March w i th  the  10 

Board  d iscuss ions about  the  s tepp ing  as ide  o f  the 

Execut ives  and an inqu i ry  to  be  conducted.  

MS BROWN:    Yes,  bu t  I  sa id  to  the  Board ,  the  Board  –  

nobody has g iven  you a  verbat im repor t  f rom a l l  the  Board  

members  tha t  says tha t  I  d id  no t  –  I  sa id  I ’m not  a l lowed to 

ins t ruc t  you to  do  anyth ing ,  bu t  I  wou ld  l i ke  the  i nqu i ry  to  

happen,  they cou ld  have sa id  no  I  don ’ t  want  to  do  i t .   I  d id  

no t  ge t  invo lved in  p rocu rement  mat te rs ,  i t ’s  very  d i f fe ren t .  

ADV SELEKA SC:    Yes,  now,  i f  we fo rge t…[ in tervenes] .  

MS BROWN:    I  served –  i t  i s  a  ve ry,  very  d i f fe ren t  mat te r.   20 

I f  I  sa id ,  go  and g ive  the  bu i ld ing  o f  Madup i  Un i t  6  to  the  

Jackson F i ves,  tha t  wou ld  be  a  d i rec t  opera t iona l  

in te r fe rence in  –  I  was ass igned to  ge t  the  company  out  o f  

i t s  mess.  

ADV SELEKA SC:     Yes, [ in te rvenes] .  
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CHAIRPERSON:    Wel l  o f  course ,  Ms Brown i t  may we l l  be  

tha t  the  s i tua t ion  was –  lo ts  o f  peop le  were  in te r fe r ing  in  

mat te rs  in  wh ich  they shou ld  no t  be  in te r fe r ing .   They 

might  no t  have been procurement  mat te rs  i f  the  ev idence  

o f  the  Board  members  who gave ev idence is  t rue ,  you  

d idn ’ t  want ,  on  the  11 t h  o f  March  to  say,  I ’m  ins t ruc t ing   

you to  suspend the  Execut ives  bu t  they say i t  was qu i te  

c lea r  tha t  tha t ’s  what  you wanted and o f  course  i f  the 

ev idence by  Mr  Tsots i  and the  ac t ing  DG a t  the  t ime is  

cor rec t ,  the  fo rmer  Pres ident  was  in te r fe r ing  in  when the  10 

Eskom Board  shou ld  have a  mee t ing  and when i t  shou ld  

no t  have a  meet ing  and then i t  may we l l  be  tha t  Mr  Tsots i  

was a l so  ge t t ing  invo l ved in  p rocu rement  mat te rs .   So,  I ’m  

jus t  ment ion ing  tha t  I ’m  not  say ing  tha t  to  the  ex ten t  tha t  

he  may have got  invo l ved in  p rocu rement  mat te rs  when he  

shou ldn ’ t  have,  I ’m  not  say ing  tha t  you shou ld  no t  have 

ra ised the  issues,  I ’m  jus t  say ing ,  i t  may we l l  be  tha t  

tha t ’s ,  u l t imate ly  the  pos i t ion  tha t  may be emerg ing  and 

you might  be  ab le  to  say someth ing ,  o r  you might  no t  be  

ab le  to  say anyth ing  about  tha t?  20 

ADV SELEKA SC:    No,  I  th ink  Cha i r,  I ’ ve  a l ready c la r i f ied  

my pos i t ion  on  the  issues.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja ,  okay,  Mr  Se leka.  

ADV SELEKA SC:    Thank you Cha i r,  because Mr  Tsots i  

has a lso  sought  to  –  we l l  le t  me not  use  the  word ,  sought ,  
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bu t  has a l so  exp la ined to  the  Cha i rperson how the  le t te r  

came about .   Le t ’s  go  back,  you see fo r  Mr  Tsots i  what  he ’s  

s t r i k ing  about  –  what  he  says was your  conversa t i on  w i th  

h im is  tha t ,  he  says,  on  the  same day,  a  few hours  la te r,  Mr  

Tony Gupta  has a  meet ing  w i th  h im and he ca l l s  h im to  – 

he  ca l l s  Mr  Tsots i  to  h is  res idence  in  Constant ia  and there  

he  te l l s  the  Cha i rpe rson,  Mr  Tsots i ,  the  Cha i rmen,  we are  

the  ones who put  you in  th is  pos i t ion  and we are  the  ones  

who can take  you out  and he says,  i t  was s t r i k i ng  to  h im 

because i t  was a  few hours  a f te r  my encounte r  w i th  the  10 

Min is te r  who,  fo r  a l l  in ten ts  and purposes,  sa id  the  same 

th ing  to  me,  re fe r r ing  to  h imse l f .  

MS BROWN:    I  cou ldn ’ t  be  say ing  the  same th ings to  h im,  

because remember  he  –  what  he  says I  sa id  was ac tua l l y  

verbat im,  in  fac t ,  he  has i t  in  inver ted  commas,  quota t ion  

marks  because he says,  tha t ’s  what  I  sa id  to  h im wh ich  is  

very  d i f fe ren t  to  what  he  says the  Gupta ’s  to ld  h im.  

ADV SELEKA SC:    Yes,  I  suppose tha t ’s  why he uses the  

phrase,  fo r  a l l  in ten ts  and purposes.  

MS BROWN:    Wel l ,  and I  use  the  phrase fo r,  i f  you  are  20 

us ing  my verbat im comments ,  then somebody e lse  had to  

use my verbat im comments  fo r  i t  to  be ,  fo r  a l l  in ten ts  and  

purposes,  the  same.   That ’s  my on ly  comment  to  you,  I  

a lso  don ’ t  know – how do I  know we went  there ,  I  don ’ t  

know Cha i r,  I  can ’ t  he lp  you w i th  tha t ,  I  wou ld  l i ke  to  he lp  
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the  Commiss ion  where  I  can but  I  can ’ t  he lp  on  someth ing  

tha t  –  i t ’s  so  vague and so  –  I  mean,  I  th ink  I ’m  a  l i t t le  

younger  than Mr  Tsots i  bu t  maybe we ’ re  the  same age but  I  

don ’ t  th ink  I  wou ld  ever  remember  anyth ing  anyone sa id  

verbat im seven years  ago,  so  –  ja…[ in tervenes] .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Wel l ,  i t  depends,  I  mean i t  depends,  Ms  

Brown…[ in tervenes] .  

MS BROWN:    Maybe you can Cha i r?  

CHAIRPERSON:    No,  i t  depends,  Ms Brown I ’m su re ,  1 )  i f  

i t ’s  no t  a  long s to ry,  i t  i t ’s  a  few words tha t  somebody sa id  10 

to  somebody or  t o  you,  on  a  ce r ta in  occas ion ,  they cou ld  

remain  embedded in  your  m ind to  say,  he  sa id  someth ing ,  

she sa id  o r  he  sa id  you never  se t  your  foo t  in  my house  

aga in ,  tha t  cou ld  remain  in  your  m ind fo r  many years ,  you 

know,  i t  jus t  depends,  you know.   So –  and o f  course  i f  you  

are  d i rec t l y  invo l ved and maybe you are  be ing  th rea tened  

you might  be  more  l i ke ly  to  remember  a l l  o f  tha t  because o f  

what  may have been a t  s take fo r  you than somebody e lse  

who may have l i s tened to  the  same conversa t ion  bu t  wasn ’ t  

d i rec t l y  invo lved or  the  person who  u t te red  the  words,  you  20 

know,  because there  m ight  no t  have been much as  s take 

there  m ight  no t  have been anyth ing  a t  s take fo r  them i t  just  

depends,  you know,  so  a l l  o f  those th ings w i l l  need to  be  

taken in to  accoun t .   Okay,  a l r igh t ,  Mr  Se leka?  

ADV SELEKA SC:    Wel l ,  Mr  Tsots i  seems to  have had 
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fa l len  ou t  o f  favour  w i th  the  Gupta ’s  Ms Brown.   He goes  

on to  ta l k  about  i nc idents ,  I  mean,   i t  doesn ’ t  pe r ta in  to  you  

but  jus t  to  g ive  you a  p ic tu re  tha t  the  Gupta ’s  –  or  Tony 

Gupta  wanted them – wanted h im  to  secure  a  cont rac t  fo r  

them a t  Eskom in  respect  o f  the  open cyc le  gas  tu rb ine  

p lan t  an  when i t  t ransp i red  tha t  there  was a  d i f fe ren t  

company,  a l ready  negot ia t ing  w i th  Eskom in  respect  o f  a  

MOU,  a  memorandum of  unders tand ing ,  he  says Mr  Tony  

Gupta  was very  upset  and he sa id  to  h im tha t  you are  

work ing  w i th  baba ’s  enemies,  re fe r r ing  to  Mr  Jacob  Zuma,  10 

you wou ldn ’ t  know about  tha t?  

MS BROWN:    No .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Wel l ,  you  –  Mr  Se leka,  you might  need 

to ,  in  te rms o f  t ime.  

ADV SELEKA SC:    Yes,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Focus more  on  the  mat te rs  where  Ms  

Brown is  d i rec t l y  invo l ved.  

ADV SELEKA SC:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Because as  fa r  as  Mr  Tsots i ’s  remova l  i s  

concerned,  i t ’s  the  Board  tha t ,  by  i t s  own admiss ion ,  was  20 

push ing  fo r  tha t  and u l t imate ly,  he  res igned.   There  is  no  

suggest ion ,  as  fa r  as  I ’m  aware ,  tha t  Ms Brown had any  

par t i cu la r  hand in  the  Board  push ing  fo r  Mr  Tsots i ’s  

remova l .   I f ,  in  the  end,  you want  to  d raw to  her  a t ten t ion ,  

var ious fea tures  o f  the  ev idence  re la t ing  to  Eskom f rom 
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d i f fe ren t  w i tnesses wh ich  maybe seem to  i nvo lve  the  

Gupta ’s  in  one way or  the  o the r,  tha t  cou ld  be  done la te r  

bu t  a lso ,  i t ’s  the  k ind  o f  th ing  where  she cou ld  be  to ld  to  

go  and cons ider  A ,  B ,  C,  D,  those fea tures .  

ADV SELEKA SC:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    And then g i ve  us  he r  comment  by  way o f  

supp lementary  a f f idav i t  because  those are  the  fea tures  

tha t  a re  t here  o r  may be there  bu t  cer ta in ly  w i th  regard  to  

Mr  Tsots i ,  she doesn ’ t  appear  to  have been pa r t  o f  the  

push fo r  Mr  Tsots i ’s  remova l .  10 

ADV SELEKA SC:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja ,  I ’m  jus t  ment ion ing  tha t  you might  

cons ider  tha t  ja .  

ADV SELEKA SC:    Yes,  I  th ink  I  can pa in t  the  p ic tu re  in  

the  end.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja .  

ADV SELEKA SC:    Ms Brown,  then,  I  wou ld  l i ke  t o  move 

on to  the  remova l  o f  Mr  Ba loy i .   Mr  Ba loy i  seems to  have  

been,  as  I ’ ve  ment ioned to  the  Board  members ,  a  

p rob lemat ic  ch i ld  fo r  them but  they came to  you  w i th  a 20 

mat te r  fo r  h is  remova l  and he –  you ca l led  h im  and Dr  

Ngubane to  a  meet ing  you sa id  t hey cou ld  come wi th  the  

company sec re ta ry  and tha t  meet ing  took p lace i n  Cape 

Town.   H is  impress ion  o f  the  meet ing  was tha t  he  cou ldn ’ t  

p resent  every th ing  to  you but  he  tes t i f ied  here  tha t  he  
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wa lked away f rom the  meet ing  on  the  unders tand ing  tha t ,  

what  he  had been accused o f ,  wh ich  was to  have contac t  

w i th  one o f  the  suspended Execut ives  was not ,  a t  tha t  

s tage,  a  ru le  tha t  p roh ib i ted  Board  members  to  do  so  and  

you expressed regre t  tha t  you had  not  la id  down a  ru le ,  to  

say Board  members  shou ld  no t  contac t  the  suspended 

Execut ives  and he wa lked away unders tand ing  tha t ,  i t  was  

your  in ten t ion  to  do  so ,  so  tha t  in  the  fu tu re ,  contac t  

doesn ’ t  happen but  he  was su rp r ised to  rece ive  a  le t te r  

f rom  you tha t  you have accepted the  Board ’s  10 

recommendat ion  to  have h im removed as  a  D i rec tor,  a re  

you ab le  …[ in tervenes] .  

MS BROWN:    I  was ve ry  exc i ted  to  have Mr  Ba loy i  

onboard  because  my o f f i c ia l s  to ld  me tha t  –  because I  was 

a lways lobb ied  by  the  un ion  members  to  have the  un ion  

rep resenta t i ve  bu t  there  are  so  many un ions bu t  –  and 

there ’s  been an exper ience o f  hav ing  un ions on  the  Board  

and fo r  some – I ’m  not  go ing  to  say i t  d idn ’ t  work  bu t  my 

o f f i c ia ls  were  say ing  i t ’s  no t  someth ing  tha t  we cou ld  do .   

So,  I  was a lways  very  exc i ted  to  have Mr  Ba loy i  onboard ,  20 

even though he  was represent ing  a  un ion ,  any spec i f i c  

un ion ,  he  was a  un ion  member  wh ich  means,  in  the  same 

way tha t  I  have bus inesspeop le  I  a lso  have un ion  members  

–  un ion  peop le  in .   So,  I  can ’ t  –  I  d idn ’ t  l i s ten  to  Mr  

Ba loy i ’s  tes t imony a t  a l l ,  bu t  I  remember  wr i t ing  to  h im tha t  
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I  was remov ing  h im in  te rms o f  Sect ion  78 (2)  and tha t  was  

o f  the  Companies  Act .   That  he  may not  use  h i s  pos i t ion  to  

ob ta in  i n fo rmat ion  to  knowing ly  cause ha rm to  the  

company,  tha t ’s  what  I  remember.   I  a lso  remember  – 

because I  th ink  i t ’s  the  peop le  in  governance commi t tee ,  

they –  and I  m igh t  be  –  we l l  le t  me  jus t  s t i ck  to  what  I  know 

abso lu te ly.   I  wro te  h im a  le t te r  where  –  and I  don ’ t  –  and I  

on ly  have th is  le t te r  on  my own documents  because he 

d idn ’ t  wr i te  d i rec t l y  to  me,  he  wro te  to  the  s ta f f  and 

th rea tened them and a l l  sor ts  o f  s tu f f ,  bu t  I  wro te  to  h im,  I  10 

sa id ,  fo l low ing my dec i s ion  I  have – I ’ l l  send th is  to  the  

Commiss ion  as  we l l ,   

“ I  have been rece iv ing  e lec t ron ic  emai ls  f rom you  

on a  da i l y  bas is  demand ing tha t  I  recons ider  my  

dec is ion .  I  am concerned tha t  the  content  o f  the  

e lec t ron i c  mai l  a lso  appears  to  be  a  th rea ten ing  

ac t ion  by  yourse l f .   Emphat ica l l y  I  w ish  to  s ta te  tha t  

my dec is ion  to  remove you f rom Eskom Board  o f  

D i rec tors  was exerc i sed w i th in  the  ambi t  o f  my  

powers  i n  te rms o f  the  MOI  read together  w i th  the  20 

Companies  Act  o f  2008 and i t  i s  f ina l ” ,  

 And then I  sk ip ,  and I  say,  

“You a re  a t  l iber t y  to  pursue whatever  lega l  avenues 

open to  you.   More  impor tan t ly  I  must  remind you 

tha t  you remain  bound by  the  conf ident ia l i t y  
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requ i red  in  te rms  o f  Sect ion  76(2)  o f  the  Companies  

Act ” .  

 I  had to  re i te ra te ,  I  ac tua l l y  gave Mr  Ba loy i  an  

oppor tun i ty  to  come and speak to  me and I  had my o f f i c ia ls  

p resent ,  I  had the  lega l  depar tment  p resent ,  I  had Dr  Ben  

and I  sa id  he ’s  supposed to  b r ing  some commi t tee ,  I  can ’ t  

remember,  I  th ink  there  were  two  or  th ree  Board  members  

present  as  we l l .   Mr  Ba loy i  made us  wa i t  th ree  hours ,  I  

cance l led  meet ings fo r  o ther  peop le ’s  appo in tments  so  tha t  

I  cou ld  see Mr  Ba loy i  because I  thought  I  shou ld  g ive  h im 10 

an oppor tun i ty  to  redeem h imse l f  and a f te r  th ree  hours  o f  

wa i t ing  he  ar r i ves ,  no  apo logy,  and when the  o f f ic ia ls  pu t  

the  issues to  h im and he argues  about  i t  and they argue  

and so  on  and eventua l l y  he  says he ’s  tak ing  us  a l l  to  

cour t ,  he  was very  th rea ten ing  and  I  thought ,  maybe  i t  i s  – 

i t ’s  no t  the  s ide  issue but  I  have so  much – we had,  as  a 

company and as  o f f i c ia ls  and as  –  we have so  much on our  

p la tes ,  I  jus t  thought ,  you know,  I  used my Execut ive  

au thor i t y  to  ge t  r id  o f  Mr  Ba loy i  to  jus t  agree w i th  the  

Board  and say,  yes ,  i t ’s  f ine  we ’ l l  no t  have Mr  Ba loy i  on  the  20 

Board .   Now,  I  m ight  no t  have done – i t  m igh t  no t  have 

been the  r igh t  th ing  to  do ,  and  I  mean,  the  Cha i r  w i l l  

ad jud ica te  tha t ,  bu t  I  d id  g ive  –  I  fee l  I  gave Mr  Ba loy i  –  I  

spoke w i th  h im  on the  te lephone because my  o f f i c ia ls  

re fused to  wr i te  le t te rs  to  Mr  Ba loy i  because Mr  Ba loy i  was 



22 MARCH 2021 – DAY 365 
 

Page 67 of 108 
 

jus t  so  –  i t  was so  d i f f i cu l t ,  he  wro te  eve ry  day.   So,  I  –  

tha t ’s  what  I  d id .  

ADV SELEKA SC:    Yes,  we l l…[ in te rvenes] .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Wel l ,  remember  to  pace yourse l f  

appropr ia te ly.  

ADV SELEKA SC:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    You s t i l l  have qu i te  a  few mat te rs  to  dea l  

w i th .  

ADV SELEKA SC:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    I ’m  look ing  a t  the  t ime.  10 

ADV SELEKA SC:    Yes,  Ms Brown,  thank you Cha i r.   I  

hope you gave me the  powers  to  –  Ms B rown jus t  two  

th ings,  Mr  Ba loy i  in  h is  rev ised submiss ion  to  you ,  I  was  

go ing  th rough h is  f i l e  yes te rday,  h is  Bund le  ra the r,  in  h is  

rev i sed submiss ion  to  you a f te r  you met  –  a f te r  the  meet ing  

he  does say,  f i rs t  and fo remost  he  wanted to  apo log ise  fo r  

a r r i v i ng  la te ,   

“yes terday,  14  Apr i l  2015 a t  your  Cape  Town o f f i ces ,  

the  prob lem was tha t  I  d id  no t  rece ive  the  change o f  

t ime f rom 13h00 to  12h00” ,  20 

So,  i f  you  say he  d idn ’ t  apo log ise ,  tha t ’s  rea l l y  

un l i ke  h im.  

MS BROWN:    I ’m  sure .  

ADV SELEKA SC:    Bu t  number  two,  I  wanted  you to  

comment  on ,  be fore  your  dec i s ion ,  on  h is  vers ion  tha t  he 
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unders tood you to  be  go ing  to  lay  down a  ru le  tha t  there  

shou ld  no t  be  contac t  as  opposed to  you accep t ing  the  

dec is ion  to  have h is  membersh ip  o f  the  Board  te rm inated,  

tha t ’s  rea l l y  what  I  wanted…[ in tervenes] .  

MS BROWN:    There  is  a  MOI  and there ’s  a  Compan ies  Act  

and both  o f  i t  says ,  tha t  you are  no t  to  d is t r ibu te  

conf ident ia l  mat te rs  tha t  w i l l  b r ing  the  company in to  

d is repute  and maybe,  I  wanted to  add,  anothe r  harsher  

word  in  i t ,  bu t  tha t ’s  –  I  don ’ t  th ink  i t ’s  t rue  and whe ther  he  

ar r i ved an hour  la te ,  I  mean,  he  s t i l l  –  he  ar r i ved th ree  10 

hours  la te ,  I  cance l led  th ree  meet ings.   I  don ’ t  have a  

meet ing  an  hour  –  I  don ’ t  have th ree  meet ings in  one hour.  

ADV SELEKA SC:    Okay,  bu t…[ in tervenes] .  

MS BROWN:    And so ,  i t ’s  h is  v iew i t ’s  my v iew,  I  have a  

d i f fe ren t  v iew on  i t ,  bu t  I  don ’ t  know –  ja  I ’m  –  I  don ’ t  

unders tand why he says I  have to  have a  new –  anyth ing  

new tha t  I  add in .   I  a l ready have a  Companies  Act ,  I  have  

the  MOI  i t  ta lks  to  mat te rs  o f  conf ident ia l i t y  i t  says  tha t  

even a f te r  you a re ,  as  Board  member,  you have to  re ta in  

tha t  conf ident ia l i t y.   You can ’ t  speak out  o f  a  Board  20 

dec is ion  there ’s  a  major i t y  dec is ion  tha t  ge t ’s  taken in  the  

Board ,  tha t  doesn ’ t  mean you can go and negot ia te  o ther  

mat te rs  w i th  o the r  peop le  ou ts ide  un less  we a l l  –  I  mean i t  

w i l l  j us t  be  chaos .  

ADV SELEKA SC:    Yes,  no  I  unders tand wha t  you ’ re  
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say ing  Ms B rown,  what  I ’m  on ly  pu t t ing  to  you  is ,  h is  

impress ion  a f te r  hav ing  met  w i th  you,  tha t  a  ru le  was go ing  

to  be  la id ,  tha t ’s  h is  impress ion ,  a re  you say ing  tha t  

impress ion  was incor rec t?  

MS BROWN:    I  don ’ t  know,  I  mean I  don ’ t  th ink  I  need  

another  impress ion  o ther  than the  Companies  Act  and  the  

MOI  and I  th ink  everybody needs to  behave in  a  congen ia l  

way so  tha t  the  Board  can funct ion .  

ADV SELEKA SC:   I  would – okay – wel l  I  would l ike to deal  

wi th something else which and I  want to – I  want to t r im i t  to  10 

your part icular relevance.   This has to do wi th Dentons 

invest igat ion.    

Now Dentons which is the inqui ry you have sa id that 

the board should have and that  inqui ry was as i t  was decided 

– decided to be for three months.   Dentons was appointed on 

20 Apri l  2015 to do an invest igat ion.    

We have seen f rom the evidence that  Dentons 

Invest igat ion which was intended to be a deep dive as you 

have used those words was cut  short  somewhere in June 

2015.  So they did not  do an invest igat ion for three months 20 

and a presentat ion was made to you on the 9 t h of  Ju ly 2015 

which was  draf t  inter im report  of  Dentons.    

Dentons says on that  very day they received a cal l  

f rom a board member saying the Minister wants the draf t  to  

be made f inal .    
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So i t  would seem that  on that  evidence you would 

have played a ro le in br inging to  an end an invest igat ion 

which you had wanted i t  to be deep dive.   According to 

Dentons Report  they say:  

“The invest igat ion lasted only for about  

seven weeks. ”    

On my calculat ion i t  is actual ly about  six weeks 

because the f i rst  week they spent  t ime having meet ings in  

order to understand the scope of  what they were requi red to 

do.   Now f i rst ly did you tel l  the board to ask Dentons to 10 

f inal ise what was a draf t  report  on 9 July 2015? 

MS BROWN:   I  – why would I  even say they must  f ina l ise the 

report? 

ADV SELEKA SC:   Now remember I  do not  know.  I  am only 

te l l ing you the version.    

MS BROWN:   Yes I  do not  know that  –  I  do not  know that  

vers ion ei ther.   They had three months in which to  do the 

report .   They presented to me on the 9t h of  July and other 

than – no I  do not  know.  I  actual ly do not  know Chai r.  

ADV SELEKA SC:   Okay.   Okay.   Because Dr Ngubane 20 

wri tes you a let ter  but  that  is only in  August  where he says:  

“The board has decided to terminate the 

invest igat ion because there is  nothing 

unfami l iar f rom i ts  invest igat ion.”  

And so they quest ion the invest igat ion going forward 
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because of  the f inances.   This invest igat ion – okay comment  

on that? 

MS BROWN:   Yes but  Dr  Ngubane in his statement a lso says 

that  by the t ime he lef t  16 of  the 18 areas were covered.   I  

mean I  do not  th ink – you know Chair  I  do not  th ink the 

invest igat ion would have – and I  am real ly ta lk ing off  the top 

of  my head now.   

I  do not  th ink the invest igat ion would have been any 

di fferent .   I  th ink what the invest igat ion did was to  narrow 

down what – what was supposed to be happening in Eskom 10 

which was not  happening for the past  couple of  years.    

And I  th ink that  is  what the invest igat ion did.   I t  

actual ly narrowed i t  down – i t  – I  means because out  of  that  

9 t h of  July meet ing the board had a responsibi l i ty to have 

oversight  over al l  – I  th ink i t  was 18 or 20 ind icators I  am not  

sure but  a l l  those ind icators that  they set  out  the board to 

have monthly indicators that  they could check against  and a 

commit tee – I  am not  sure i f  i t  is the bui ld commit tee or what  

who check i t  on a weekly basis.    

So they had l ike a dashboard to  check what the 20 

outcome is.   The point  is lots of  people say the Minister 

made me do i t .   I  have had lots of  people saying you have 

got  to do th is because the Minister  said so.   And where I  

know who i t  is I  can take act ion;  where I  do not  know who i t  

is I  cannot take act ion.   
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ADV SELEKA SC:   Wel l  let  me also just  say two things about 

th is invest igat ion or  I  might  add the thi rd  one and the thi rd  

one is Dentons i tsel f  saying:  

“Thei r  report  was a snapshot  of  the 

invest igat ion at  the midpoint  of  the 

invest igat ion per iod.”  

And they say about 18 June 2015.   

“And i t  is provided to Eskom on the speci f i c  

request  of  Eskom.  The f indings,  v iews,  

conclusions and recommendat ions set  out  in  10 

this report  are accordingly subject  to  

ver i f icat ion and test ing provided to Eskom as 

a record of  the invest igat ion as at  the 

midpoint  of  the invest igat ion per iod and 

largely they say do not  const i tute def in i t ive 

f indings,  v iews,  conclusions and 

recommendat ions. ”  

Because they were not  able to  complete thei r  

invest igat ion.   But  I  want you – le t  me give you two more 

aspects.  20 

1.   This invest igat ion i t  seems i t  was not  budgeted for.  

2.  I t  appears to have been used as a disguise to have the 

execut ives step out  – step aside and the board pushes 

for them to have set t lement agreements of  the board.   

When the board had said you wi l l  come back af ter three 
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months but  what you see in the in ter im period is the 

board saying you are not  coming back.   Your coming 

back is off  the table.   Some of  these execut ives are 

told.    

And then there are these set t lement agreements and 

they are paid hush money to go away and i t  seems to 

coincide wi th  th is  t ime of  the invest igat ion being brought to  

an end.   So once you have f rom the board ’s s ide the 

execut ives set t led and went away,  paid huge amount  of  

money the invest igat ion is brought  to  an end.   That  is  the 10 

picture emerging I  do not  know whether you have a comment 

on that? 

MS BROWN:   No I  do not  have a comment on that .   I  th ink i t  

is a picture emerging in a head – someone’s head but  I  do 

not  have a – I  mean you tel l ing me that  I  approved a – a 

report  an inqui ry  wanted an inqui ry even,  approved an 

inquiry.    

I  knew there was no money I  can say that  up – I  knew 

there was no money and I  said please f ind ways to  

repr ior i t ise.   I  a lso know that  Eskom l ike al l  the other state 20 

owned companies for a bot t le of  500 ml water where we pay 

R6.00 or R4.00 they would pay R30.00 or R35.00.   So I  said 

go and f ind ways to – to get  the money.    

But  what you are saying is a view that  you hold or  

you coming to a conclusion that  that  is what i t  is.   I  do not  
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th ink that  that  is so.   I  th ink we actual ly – I  mean the board 

is actual ly holding the Dentons indicators accountable the 

KPI ’s accountable to – to themselves and to the execut ives.  

So i t  – I  do not  hold that  v iew but  I  – I  am not  – maybe you 

have read something somewhere else and you have pieced 

together th is whole story but  i t  is  not  a very – i t  is not  a 

dissimi lar story to the one I  hear  in the publ ic domain.   I  

must  be very f rank wi th you about that .    

ADV SELEKA SC:   Yes.  

MS BROWN:   I t  is  not  a dissimi lar s tory.  10 

ADV SELEKA SC:   Yes.   No I  or the commission can only go 

according to the aff idavi ts that  are provided to i t .   So that  is  

what you see f rom the aff idavi ts?   

But  here is another aspect  relevant  to you Ms Brown 

even before Dentons is appointed on 28 Apr i l  2015 you made 

an announcement  on the 17 Apri l  2015 for the secondment of  

Mr Molefe to Eskom with immediate effect .    

And you conveyed in your press conference that  even 

though he is seconded for three months you would actual l y  

l ike him to be there for twelve months.   Mr Matona is te l l ing 20 

us.  

MS BROWN:   Did I  say that  – did I  say that  publ ic ly or did I  

say that  in the press statement? 

ADV SELEKA SC:   I t  is in the media – in your press 

conference.  
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MS BROWN:   Release 

ADV SELEKA SC:   Ja,  no i t  is… 

MS BROWN:   Is i t  in the media release? 

ADV SELEKA SC:   No i t  is  a press conference.   I t  is  – there 

is a video – there is YouTube … 

MS BROWN:   So I  say that? 

ADV SELEKA SC:   Yes.  

MS BROWN:   Oh I  must  just  be my run of  mouth.   But  yes I  –  

what are you asking me Advocate? 

ADV SELEKA SC:   Yes what I  am asking you is th is  when Mr 10 

Matona was st i l l  on suspension and you were already 

entertaining a thought that  Mr Molefe would be there for  

twelve months what would have been your reason for i t  when 

Mr Matona was intended to come back in three months? 

MS BROWN:   I  – i t  might  have been – you know there was a 

lot  of  exci tement  around Mr – f i rst ly let  me say why I  

appointed Mr Molefe on the 17 t h – I  made the press 

statement on the 17t h because by that  t ime the execut ives 

al ready told me that  there has been a negot iat ion wi th Mr 

Matona and that  i t  – i t  looks l ike he is hovering on staying or  20 

going.   I  – so there was nothing clar i f ied.    

Af ter three months and in the meant ime we had Mr 

Khoza standing in  and that  was not  going so wel l .   I  mean Mr 

Khoza cannot be expected to do the job of  a CE but  he was 

standing in and he was doing an excel lent  job standing in.   
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So I  a lso heard someone say that  they did not  know what the 

meet ing was about that  they had to go to but  I  had a meet ing 

between the two Chairs of  Transnet and Eskom.   

And I  would never – I  wi l l  take legal  opinion to see 

whether i t  is possible to move for three – to second for three 

months somebody f rom one state owned company to another.   

I t  has happened before and i t  has happened af terwards.   

Having said that  af ter three months appointment the board 

wanted me to appoint  Mr Molefe for twelve months.   I  said 

no.    10 

When they wanted a permanency al ready I  said no.   

Because he has only been there for  three months,  he is only 

supposed to be there for three months.   There has got  to be 

a much bet ter re – and the point  is the markets applauded, 

the publ ic applauded, the media applauded i t  was the one 

good thing that  I  d id in many,  many years.    

So – and I  th ink i t  is in that  space that  I  probably 

said oh I  mean I  do not  know where – I  do not  know i f  I  said 

i t  in a press statement I  d id not  see i t  in the press statement 

but  I  could have said oh maybe he stays for twelve months.    20 

But  when I  was in  the formal set t ing where the board 

wri tes to me and asks me to appoint  Mr Molefe for – I  cannot  

remember i f  they wanted to appoint  him permanent ly or not  I  

th ink i t  might  be something you should ask the invest igators 

to look at .    
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ADV SELEKA SC:   I t  was permanent.  

MS BROWN:   But  I  do –  

ADV SELEKA SC:   I t  was permanent.  

MS BROWN:   I  do remember.  

ADV SELEKA SC:   Permanent ly.  

MS BROWN:   That  I  sa id – sorry.  

ADV SELEKA SC:   I t  was permanent ly.  

MS BROWN:   Yes I  said now he must wai t  – l ike every other  

person they – i t  should not  happen yet .   They should give Mr 

Molefe six months and I  – and six  months was just  off  the 10 

top of  my head because I  was just  th inking that  look give him 

six months then g ive him another  three months and then let  

us see how i t  wi l l  – works out .   Wi thin the six months of  Mr 

Molefe coming in I  cannot remember by which month but  by 

August  the company al ready turned around in  terms of  load 

shedding – in terms of  staff  morale.    

I  mean I  v is i ted a couple of  fest ival  of  maintenance 

gather ings that  Mr Molefe had i t  was just  everyone at  Eskom 

helping wi th maintenance on weekends,  overn ight ,  dur ing – 

you know i t  was just  – there was just  an incredible energy 20 

wi thin the company.    

So no I  d id not  want to appoint  him for twelve months 

I  sa id i t  in a – I  said i t  – i t  was an off  the cuff  comment that  I  

made.  

ADV SELEKA SC:   Were you the one… 
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MS BROWN:   And … 

ADV SELEKA SC:   Okay carry on.  

MS BROWN:   And I  am only – I  am only saying i t  is an off  

the cuff  comment  that  I  made because you tel l ing me that  I  

have made that  comment.   Because i t  is not  a comment that  I  

would natural ly – I  mean … 

ADV SELEKA SC:   I  wi l l . . .  

MS BROWN:   I  do natural ly – I  do make comments.   I  do 

make side comments a l l  the t ime.  

ADV SELEKA SC:   Yes.   I  wi l l  get  the video – video cl ip for  10 

you.   But  te l l  me was i t  – was i t  you who came up wi th  Mr 

Molefe’s name?  Was i t  at  your  in i t iat ive that  he was 

seconded? 

MS BROWN:    When he was seconded to Eskom? 

ADV SELEKA SC:   Yes.  

MS BROWN:   No I  d id not  actual ly know Mr Molefe.   I  th ink i t  

was in – there was – there was an occasion where I  went to  

the Presidency and there was real  issue wi th the fact  – and I  

mean with the fact  that  we were st i l l  having load shedding 

and that  the possibi l i ty of  us going into darkness – no 20 

blackouts which would ki l l  the economy and wi l l  take too 

long a per iod for the economy to be – to be rebui l t .    

And there seemed to be a very ser ious exercise that 

has been done that  I  had – I  could – I  had access to.   Now I  

am not  sure i f  i t  is  an intel l igence exerc ise that  was done but  
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Gauteng was going to go into blackout  and that  I  should act  

on i t .    

And the one thing I  could not  act  on that  was wi th the 

– a non-execut ive director being in charge.   And I  th ink in my 

conversat ion wi th  the President  and I  could have sa id i t  the 

President  could have said i t ,  I  do not  know but  Mr Molefe’s  

name came up.  

ADV SELEKA SC:   Okay.  

MS BROWN:   Now I  have heard you say to other people that  

some man cal led Mr Herb said that  Sal im Essa said that  Mr 10 

… 

ADV SELEKA SC:   Yes they have decided who wi l l  be the 

next  boss of  Eskom. 

MS BROWN:   Yes I  heard that  so why would I  then go and 

appoint  Mr Matona.   I  am a new Minister I  thought about  th is 

a lot .   I  am a new Minister,  I  was going to lose my DG,  I  have 

never been a Minister – a Nat ional  Minister before,  I  was 

going to lose my DG, why would I  appoint  him i f  I  was only 

l istening to some instruct ions that  some strange people 

concoct  th ings outside of  Eskom?  Why do I  not  just  appoint  20 

him, Mr Molefe in the f i rst  instance and not  appoint  Mr 

Matona? 

CHAIRPERSON:   Wel l… 

MS BROWN:   And keep with my Matona in as a DG.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Wel l  Ms Brown you could have done that  i f  
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you d id not  l isten in the f i rst  p lace and that  is why Mr Matona 

had to be removed and then Mr Molefe put  in.   Maybe you 

did not  l isten.  

MS BROWN:   Because I  d id not  – because I  d id not  l isten in  

the f i rst  p lace? 

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

MS BROWN:  Wel l  nobody told me in the f i rst  p lace.   So 

anyway but  that  –  that  is how i t  happened.  

CHAIRPERSON:   But  your – your… 

MS BROWN:   And then of  course I  spoke wi th the Deputy 10 

President  at  the t ime the President  today on the te lephone 

and I  remember the conversat ion because we were throwing 

a lot  of  names – lots of  other people as wel l .    

And then the one person that  was the same as the 

Deputy President  and the President  was Mr Molefe and I  

then went to a funct ion of  Transnet and I  am – Mr Molefe 

says i t  and i t  jogged my memory.   I  remember that  I  used to 

go to al l  Transnet ’s funct ions and i t  jogged my memory and 

Mr Molefe said i t  and I  – and I  thought oh that  is actual ly a  

viable opt ion – a viable posi t ion and I  then said – I  asked 20 

him i f  he would be wi l l ing to be seconded to Eskom.   

Chair  i f  there was anything that  I  d id r ight  in that  

per iod of  my l i fe in the publ ic space I  mean even my fami ly 

hated me for load shedding.   Nobody bel ieved – everybody 

bel ieved that  I  was the person who was shedding the load. 
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So that  was actual ly – for al l  intents and purposes i t  

was a very posi t ive stance that  I  took that  day and people 

were very – the markets were rejoic ing.   There was an 

upsurge in the markets on that  day wi th Mr Molefe.   So that  

is the only th ing I  can say.  

ADV SELEKA SC:   Hm.  But  remember there was a 

downgrade of  Eskom as a resul t  of  the suspension of  the 

execut ives.  

MS BROWN:   Yes and there was a downgrade of  Eskom just 

a few months before that  as wel l .  10 

ADV SELEKA SC:   Hm. 

MS BROWN:   So there – Eskom had many downgrades and 

many downgrades af ter that .   In fact  I  am not  sure – maybe I  

should not  express mysel f  on i t  but  I  th ink they st i l l  have 

downgrades.  

ADV SELEKA SC:   But  th is speci f ic one was part icu lar ly 

l inked to the decision in regard to the suspensions and I  

wonder whether i t  concerned you.  

MS BROWN:   I t  d id.   A downgrade always concerns me 

because every downgrade means that  the bonds that  Eskom 20 

sel ls are much, much – i t  is a – i t  becomes of  less and less 

value and the company i tsel f  become of  less and less value.  

ADV SELEKA SC:   Ja.   But  you know what – what I  … 

MS BROWN:   And I  do not  want to start  a  conspi racy theory.   

I  do not  want to you know and then this one did that  and that  
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but  I  a lso a conspiracy theory around i t .   I  may be wri te you 

down and then the Chair  h is last  moments I  – he – of  wri t ing 

the report  he wi l l  see my conspiracy theory.  

ADV SELEKA SC:   Ms Brown the secondment of  Mr Singh.  

Mr Singh says you approached h im in June 2015 to be 

seconded to Eskom, is that  correct? 

MS BROWN:   You know I  – no I  do not  th ink Mr S ingh’s r ight  

wi th that .   I  th ink I  got  a board meet ing – a board memo 

because I  knew of  Mr Molefe I  d id not  know Mr Singh real ly.   

But  the board sent  me – and I  am almost  absolutely certain 10 

of  th is the board sent  me a let ter request ing the – Mr Singh 

to be seconded and g iving i t  to my DDG of  Energy and the 

DDG of  Transport  and they were coming back wi th a memo 

saying that  i t  is – would be a r ight  k ind of  decision to make.  

But  I  – I  approved that  decision but  I  d id not  make 

the – I  real ly did not  make – I  d id not  say Mr Singh please 

come and help us.   I  sa id – I  said – I  went to speak to Mr 

Molefe and said he must  come and help.    

So I  am not  sure i f  Mr Singh or who said that  but  that  

is not  – I  d id not .   I  might  have spoken with him and said you 20 

know something about f inances and so but  I  do not  th ink I  – I  

do not  – I  d id not  actual ly ask him to come over.    

ADV SELEKA SC:   Hm.  Wel l  let  me then just  conclude by 

showing you this and I  am sure to some extent  you wi l l  have 

been watching the evidence before the commission.    
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And once Mr Molefe and Mr Anoj  Singh come to 

Eskom we see as I  – I  th ink I  said this on the f i rst  day the 

way they deal  wi th the t ransact ions pertaining to the Gupta ’s 

and that  is speci f ical ly Tegeta on the one hand and on the 

other hand the way they deal  wi th t ransact ions perta ining to 

Regiments and later Tr i l l ian which is owned by Mr Sal im 

Essa and Dr Er ic Wood.   

So i t  would appear f rom the evidence that  ul t imately  

the execu – those two execut ives who are moved to Eskom – 

seconded to Eskom ul t imately appointed at  Eskom would 10 

have went there wi th a part icular purpose looking at  what  

they do immediate ly af ter they are at  Eskom.   

The t ransact ions in regard to Tegeta,  the terminat ing 

the cooperat ion agreement wi th  Opt imum Coal Mine which 

was owned by Glencore and there is a 30 – over R30.6 

mi l l ion payment to Tr i l l ian when services were rendered by a 

di fferent  ent i ty Regiments.    

This would have happened during your t ime as a 

Minister and I  wonder whether did you observe these things 

taking p lace?  Did they come to your at tent ion and what your  20 

view was? 

MS BROWN:   No i t  d id not  come to my at tent ion because i t  

was not  a sect ion – a PFMA Sect ion 54 Appl icat ion to me.  A 

lot  of  i t  came out  in the media,  a couple of  months af ter the 

process.   But  let  me – let  me put  something to you.  
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ADV SELEKA SC:   Yes.  

MS BROWN:   Advocate Seleka – Chair  you see I  understood 

that  Glencore sold Opt imum Mine to the Gupta ’s and that  

was a di rect  sale of  the company.   In  my mind,  G lencore  

was push ing  fo r  a  h igher  amount .   Now I  do  no t  care  o f  the  

amount  o f  coa l  anywhere .   I  care  tha t  when you increase 

Glencore ’s  coa l  p r ice ,  who pay fo r  tha t  increase?  Even  

though Eskom pays fo r  i t  th rough NERSA the  genera l  

pub l i c  pays the  h igher  cost  o f  coa l .   That  i s  my lay  

person ’s  unders tand ing  o f  i t .    10 

 So Tegeta  charges a t  the  beg inn ing  R150 per  

coa l  –  per  ton  o f  coa l  o r  R100.   I  cannot  remember  what  

they charged but  they were  under  R 200 pe r  ton  o f  coa l .   

So I  do  no t . . .  

 I  see  i t  in  the  newspaper  and I . . .   Look,  in  th is  

count ry  o f  fac t ions and connect ing  do ts  and a l l  o f  tha t .   

Other  peop le  connect  do ts  d i f fe ren t ly.   Some peop le  

connect  do ts  one way.   Other  peop le  connect  do ts  in  

another  way.  

 So I  was very  happy tha t  the  pr i ce  tha t  w i l l  be  20 

passed th rough to  our  peop le  –  to  peop le  in  our  –  the  

c i t i zens o f  South  A f r i ca  w i l l  be  lower  than what  i t  wou ld  

have been i f  i t  was increas ing  to  R 540 per  ton .   So tha t  i s  

on  the  one hand.  

 On the  o ther  hand I  a lso  ho ld  a  v iew tha t  i f  there  
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i s  any wrongdo ing  and I  -  a f te r  a lmost  negot ia t ing  w i th  the  

S IU fo r  s ix  to  seven months  because the  i ssue o f  

p rocu rement  in  Eskom i s  a  very  complex  mat te r  and so  is  

the  issue o f  p rocurement  in  Transnet  and Dene l  and i t  

was. . .  

 I  w i l l  a lways be s t ruck  by  the  fac t  tha t  I  

negot ia ted  w i th  t he  S IU fo r  a lmos t  seven  months  because 

they d id  no t  wan t  to  inc lude any o f  the  cost  loss  m ines.   

They on ly  wanted  to  dea l  where  there  are  i ssues tha t  were  

in  the  present  env i ronment .    10 

 And I  do  no t  know why but  i t  i s  –  i t  must  be  

in te res t ing  and maybe i t  becomes some s tudents ’ docto ra l  

d isser ta t ion  one day because not  everyone wants  to  look  a t  

the  to ta l  p ic tu re  o f  coa l .   I  mean,  nobody looks a t  the  to ta l  

p ic tu re  o f  coa l  and  the  pr ice  tha t  eventua l l y  i s  in  ou r  

peop le ’s  pockets .    

 And when I  say  our  peop le ,  I  mean the  who le  

South  A f r i ca ,  a l l  o f  us  who l i ve  here  who makes South  

A f r i ca  our  home.   So I  do  fee l  tha t  on  the  ba lance o f  

fa i rness i t  m igh t  be  a  l i t t le  bu t  more  usefu l  and I  am do ing  20 

the  –  I  am not  say ing  what  the  –  I  am,  ac tua l l y  –  and i t  

m igh t  be  usefu l  to  look  a t  the  way bus iness ge ts  done in  

the  count ry.  

 I  mean,  you know,  the re  a re  compan ies  tha t  you 

cannot  –  i f  you  go to  an  a i rpo r t ,  i t  does not  mat te r  i f  you  
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ea t  a t  tha t  p lace  or  i f  you  go to  the  ba throom or  you wash 

your  hands or  you use the  ca fé  in  the  area,  i t  a l l  be longs to  

one company.  

 So i t  m igh t  be  in te res t ing  –  I  th ink  i t  is  

in te res t ing  and I  th ink  we a re  a  young democracy and  

these –  th is  –  these –  th is  phenomena is  go ing  to  show i t s  

head o f ten  and many peop le  w i l l  ge t  hur t  in  the  process bu t  

i t  w i l l  show i t s  head.   I  am not  mak ing  i t  as  a  th read .   I  am 

jus t  say ing  tha t  tha t  i s  what  happened – tha t  i s  what  I  fe l t  

about  i t .    10 

ADV SELEKA SC :    Which  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

MS BROWN :    Bu t  i t  i s  no t  as  s imp le  as  you th ink  i t  i s .  

ADV SELEKA SC :    Ja .   Which  phenomena are  you  

re fer r i ng  to  Ms Brown? 

MS BROWN :    I  th ink  the  phenomena i s  new ent rance to  

any o f  the  b ig  four  o r  f i ve ’s ,  whether  i t  i s  in  the  f inanc ia l  

sec to r.  

ADV SELEKA SC :    Ja .  

MS BROWN :    Whether  i t  i s  in  the  coa l  sec to r,  whether  i t  i s  

in  the  tour i sm secto r.   We have  on ly  four  o r  f i ve  b ig 20 

compan ies .  

ADV SELEKA SC :    Okay.  

MS BROWN :    They are  a l l  wh i te  owned and they a l l  have 

a l l  o f  our,  you know,  the  wel l -kneaded (? )  who serve  in  tha t  

d i rec torsh ip  and I  th ink  has happened fo r  a  long t ime.    
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ADV SELEKA SC :    Okay,  okay.   Thank you very  much.   

Cha i rperson,  thank you.   I  have reached the  end,  

Cha i rperson,  o f  my quest ion ing .  

MS BROWN :    No . . .  

ADV SELEKA SC :    [ laughs]  

MS BROWN :    [ laughs]  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja .  

ADV SELEKA SC :    There  a re ,  obv ious ly,  aspects  tha t  the  

board  says about  the  Min is te r  wh ich  accrued,  as  the  

Cha i rperson had suggested,  ra ised them (? )  o f  the  Min is te r  10 

to  ob ta in  he r  a f f idav i t  on  tha t .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Wel l ,  you  s t i l l  have about  28-minutes  

be fore  i t  i s  one.   

ADV SELEKA SC :    Ja .  

CHAIRPERSON :    One o ’c lock .   I f  you  want  to  dea l  w i th  

tha t  now.  

ADV SELEKA SC :    Yes,  le t  me do tha t .  

MS BROWN :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Le t  me ask you someth ing  Ms Brown.  

MS BROWN :    Yes,  Cha i r.  20 

CHAIRPERSON :    I  have unders tood f rom o the r  ev idence in  

re la t ion  to  Transnet  tha t  your  p redecessor  in  the  Min is t r y  

o f  Pub l ic  Enterp r ises ,  Mr  G igaba ,  had approved cer ta in  

gu ide l ines  wh ich  SOE’s  under  Pub l ic  Enterpr i ses ,  I  guess,  

were  suppose to  fo l low in  the  appo in tment  o f  CEO’s .   I  take 
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i t  tha t  when you ar r i ved a t  the  m in is t ry,  you became aware  

o f  those gu ide l ines?  

MS BROWN :    I  do  no t  know who d rew up those gu ide l ines.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

MS BROWN :    Bu t  I  use . . .   When  I  came to  the  m in is t ry,  I  

was qu i te  new.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

MS BROWN :    So  I  used what  was present  in  the  m in is t r y  

. . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay.  10 

MS BROWN :    Un t i l  I . . .   So  i t  m igh t  be  those gu ide l i nes .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Oh,  okay.   So I  guess what  you mean is .   

There  are  cer ta in  gu ide l ines  tha t  you were  –  you  became 

aware  o f  when you came to  the  m in is t ry  bu t  as  to  who had  

. . . [ in te rvenes]   

MS BROWN :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    . . .who had es tab l i shed them or  had,  you  

know,  approved them,  you might  no t  know about  tha t .  

MS BROWN :    No .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Now,  i f  I  reca l l  cor rec t l y  and –  ja ,  i f  I  20 

reca l l  cor rec t l y.   They contempla ted  tha t  the  board  o f  an 

SOE shou ld  fo l low a  p rocess when they want  to  appo in t  a  

CEO.    

 A process wh ich  wou ld  invo lve  hav ing  o the r  

cand ida tes  or  no t  hav ing  more  than one  cand ida te .   I  
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cannot  remember  whether  they contempla ted  tha t  there  

shou ld  be  an adver t i sement  as  such but  I  seem to  reca l l  

tha t ,  in  the  end,  the  board  was,  in  te rms o f  those  

gu ide l ines ,  requ i red  to  g ive  to  the  Min i s te r  th ree  names.   

Maybe i t  i s  tha t .   A t  leas t  th ree  names  I  am not  sure  bu t  

th ree  names.    

 And they were  supposed to  then g i ve  –  to  

ident i f y  the i r  p re fer red  cand ida tes .   Does tha t  acco rd  w i th  

your  reco l lec t ion  o f  what  the  gu ide l i nes  you used,  

p rov ided?  10 

MS BROWN :    That  does.   That  does.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  yes .  

MS BROWN :    I  do  reca l l  tha t  now.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Now were  those gu ide l ines  fo l l owed in  

the  case o f  the  permanent  appo in tment  o f  Mr  Mo le fe  as  

Group CEO of  Eskom? 

MS BROWN :    I  do  no t  –  I  must  be  very  honest .   I  have not  

looked spec i f i ca l l y  to  tha t .  

CHAIRPERSON :    H ’m.  

MS BROWN :    Bu t  i f  my memory  serves me,  tha t  d id  no t  20 

happen.  

CHAIRPERSON :    H ’m.  

MS BROWN :    Bu t . . .   Yes,  tha t  d id  no t  happen because I  

cannot  remember  who –  how tha t . . .   I  cannot  remember  

Cha i r.   Le t  me say tha t .  



22 MARCH 2021 – DAY 365 
 

Page 90 of 108 
 

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja ,  ja .  

MS BROWN :    Because I  on ly. . .   You see,  I  come in  a t  the  

par t  where  they  wr i te  the  th ree  names in  the i r  f i rs t  

p re fe rence,  the i r  second pre fe rence and the i r  p re ference.   

So the  board  w i l l  wr i te  the  th ree  names.   Now I  do  no t  

remember  see ing  i t  l i ke  tha t ,  to  me.  

 I  do  remember  the  board  wr i t ing  to  say tha t  they 

wou ld  l i ke  to  appo in t  Mr  Mole fe  and Mr  S ingh  and I  

approved tha t .   I  took  i t  to  the  ANC Dep loyment  Commi t tee  

and they approved i t  and I  took  i t  to  the  Cab ine t  Commi t tee  10 

and they approved i t .   I  mean,  sor ry.   Not  Cab ine t  

Commi t tee .   I  took  i t  to  Cab ine t  and they approved i t .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.   

MS BROWN :    Bu t  I  am say ing  to  you,  I  do  no t  remember  

hav ing  th ree  names.    

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

MS BROWN :    I  have –  I  remember  hav ing  on ly  one name.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

MS BROWN :    Bu t ,  I  mean,  I  cou ld  be  wrong.  

CHAIRPERSON :    No,  no .   That  i s  f ine .   And a f te r  today,  i f  20 

you get  a  chance to  re f resh your  memory  and w ish  to  

supp lement  your  answer,  a r rangements  can be made fo r  

you to  do  tha t .  

 But  le t  me te l l  you  tha t  Mr  or  Dr  Ngubane,  I  th ink  

was asked about  th is  i f  I  am not  mis taken.   And h is  answer  
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was to  conf i rm tha t  no  process was fo l lowed tha t  invo l ved 

o ther  cand ida tes .   And when he was asked . . . [ in te rvenes]   

MS BROWN :    H ’m? 

CHAIRPERSON :    And when he was asked why and I  th ink  

there  m ight  have been no re ferences to  those gu ide l ines  in  

–  when he was quest ioned but  he  may have been asked in  

genera l  te rms.   When he was asked why,  h i s  answer  was:   

We have got  ou r  count r ies .   And I  th ink  he  may have gone  

on to  p ra ise  Mr  Mole fe ,  how good he was and so  on  and so  

on .  10 

 And sa id  the  board ’s  a t t i tude was:   We have got  

our  cand ida te  and so  to  speak,  why shou ld  we be look ing  

fo r  o ther  peop le?   We have got  the  r igh t  person tha t  we are  

look ing  fo r  in  te rms o f  somebody  who we be l ieve  can do 

the  job .    

 Those are  no t  necessar i l y  h i s  verbat im word  as  

he  was say ing  about  Mr  Tsots i  bu t  tha t  was the  e f fec t  o r  

the  g is t  o f  what  he  to ld  the  Commiss ion  as  I  reca l l  i t .    

 Wou ld  you remember  why tha t  –  the  gu ide l ines  

wou ld  no t  have been fo l lowed i f  in  fac t  they were  no t  20 

fo l lowed?  

MS BROWN :    I  do  no t  know.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja .  

MS BROWN :    I  do  no t  remember  Cha i r.   I f  –  I  am t ry ing  to  

th ink  about  i t  wh i le  I  am s i t t ing  he re  wh i le  you are  ask ing 
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me the  quest ions because I  am t ry ing  to  th ink  o f  a  

p laus ib le  response to  you.    

 Look,  the  gu ide l ines  fo r  bo th  execut ives  and 

even boards and commi t tees and a l l  o f  tha t ,  then there  are  

on ly  a  few depar tments  tha t  ac tua l l y  ab ide  by  any  

convent iona l  way  o f  dea l ing  w i th  th is  mat te r  and I  th ink  

DPE is  one such depar tment .  

 So you cannot  take  peop le  ou t  o f  your  back  

pocket  to  be  on  the  board  and you  cannot  take  peop le  jus t  

one –  ge t  one pe rson because the re  are  –  even though the  10 

law,  the  Companies  Act  and the  MOI  and a l l  o f  tha t ,  they  

a l l  g ive  you the  r i gh t  to  do  so .  

 There  are  conven t ions tha t  have been deve loped 

w i th in  DPE how those processes w i l l  happen.   So maybe in  

another  depar tment  th is  i s  how i t  happens but  in  Eskom,  

genera l l y,  i t  happens. . .    

 I  w i l l  look  –  I  w i l l  t ry  to  check the  recesses o f  my  

bra in  aga in  bu t  I  have a  sense tha t  i t  i s  –  you a re  r igh t ,  

there  was on ly  one cand ida te .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Wel l ,  I  do  no t  know whethe r  you  – what  20 

you th ink  o f  the  reason tha t  Mr  or  Dr  Ngubane  gave,  

whethe r  you wou ld  have regarded i t  as  a  good reason not  

to  fo l low the  gu ide l ines .   A re  you  ab le  to  say anyth ing  on  

tha t  o r. . .?  

MS BROWN :    Look,  Cha i r,  we  were  a l l  in  –  you must  
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remember,  we came –  we come thought  a  very  dark  per iod  

o f  –  we l l ,  l i t e ra l l y  and f igura t i ve ly,  a  dark  pe r iod .   So 

Mr  Mole fe  ove rwhe lmed a l l  o f  us .  

CHAIRPERSON :    H ’m.  

MS BROWN :    I  mean,  I  s t i l l  fee l  tha t  in  te rms o f  what  he  

d id  in  the  company in  those f i rs t  few months was ac tua l l y  

remarkab le .   There  are  42  000 peop le  who work  fo r  Eskom.   

And fo r  the  f i r s t  t ime they have seen the i r  CEO.   I t  was 

w i th in  a  few weeks.   And then he got  them a l l  to ,  you know,  

l i ke  rugby scrummed up to  be  par t  o f  th is  fes t i va l  o f  10 

main tenance.  

 And then he got  them a l l . . .   So  I  th ink  we were  

probab ly  a l l  swept  up  by  Mr  Mole fe ’s  ab i l i t y  by  August  to  

have load-shedd ing  under  cont ro l .   I  mean. . .    

 So  I  was jus t  fasc ina ted .   In  the  cont ro l  room,  

there  was th is  th ing  ca l led ,  I  do  no t  know,  i t  i s  Thesaurus 

or  . . .   Te t r i s .   Te t r i s .   And he sa id  to  me:   I  am us ing  Tet r i s  

to  so lve  ou r  c r i s is .  

 And Tet r i s  i s  a  computer  game and he had these 

young eng ineers  dea l ing  w i th  th is  and we wou ld  know in  20 

the  cont ro l  room by when a  –  or  when –  immedia te ly  when  

someth ing  happens w i th  a  t ransfo rmer  o r  a  power  s ta t ion  

or  whatever.  

 So I  –  we were  a l l  very  swept  up  by  Mr  Mole fe .   

Mo le fe  rea l l y  go t  th ings go ing  and th ings work ing  in  the  
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company.   So I  can a lmost  unders tand why the  board  d id  

no t  have another  p rocess.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Bu t ,  you see,  I  have some d i f f i cu l t y  w i th  

the  reason g iven by  the  board  and  I  do  have d i f f i cu l t y  w i th  

what  you say too  because I  wou ld  th ink  tha t  the  fac t  tha t  

there  is  a  pa r t i cu la r  cand ida te  tha t  fasc ina tes  those who 

have to  recommend o r  appo in t ,  i t  cannot  be  a  good  reason  

not  to  fo l low process and i t  cannot  be  a  good reason to  

exc lude o ther  poss ib le  cand ida tes .   What  do  you say to  

tha t?  10 

MS BROWN :    I  agree w i th  you Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

MS BROWN :    Because,  I  mean,  I  even th ink ,  how come my 

Lega l  and Governance Un i t  d id  no t  s top  us?  

CHAIRPERSON :    H ’m.  

MS BROWN :    I  mean,  I  take  the  b lame.   I  am the  head 

o f . . .   I  am the  Execut ive  Author i t y.   I  am not  say ing  

somebody e l se  has to  s top  us .  

CHAIRPERSON :    H ’m,  h ’m.  

MS BROWN :    Bu t  how come the  process peop le  d id  no t  20 

s top?  Not . . .   The  board  is  no t  –  they a re  no t  po l i t i c i ans.   I  

am a  po l i t i c ian .    

CHAIRPERSON :    H ’m,  h ’m.  

MS BROWN :    Or  I  was.   But  the  board  does not  s top  –  bu t  

a t  leas t  why –  you know,  they d id  no t  s top  us .   But  I  th ink  i t  
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i s  because i t  i s  no t  i l l ega l  o r  un lawfu l .   And I  am us ing  i t  

very,  ve ry  w ide ly.   I  th ink  i t  i s  no t  i l l ega l  o r  un lawfu l .   But  

Cha i r,  I  th ink  i t  i s  someth ing  tha t  I  must  th ink  about .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja .  

MS BROWN :    I  must  th ink  about .    

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja ,  ja .  

MS BROWN :    And i f  I  th ink  more  about  i t ,  I  w i l l . . .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja .  

MS BROWN :    Because i t  i s  a  fasc ina t ing  quest ion .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja .   You see,  I  may have sa id  th is  to  10 

Dr  Ngubane but  I  m igh t  no t  have sa id  i t .   I f  you  th ink  you 

have got  a  good cand ida te .   The fac t  tha t  there  m ight  be  – 

you might  go  th rough a  process  where  there  are  o ther  

cand ida tes  shou ld  no t  make you fee l  a t  r i sk  tha t  you might  

lose  th is  cand ida te .  

 Par t i cu la r ly,  in  the  contex t  o f  what  we are  ta lk ing  

about  because Mr  Mole fe  was there  a t  Eskom.   H is  ac t ing  

te rm cou ld  be  ex tended wh i le  the  process was be ing  

fo l lowed.   There  wou ld  be  noth ing  wrong w i th  tha t ,  I  wou ld  

imag ine .  20 

 And then he wou ld  comple te  w i th  whoever  e lse  

and i f  he  was so  –  i f  he  was tha t  good,  he  wou ld  s t i l l  come 

tops,  you know.   So there  is  no  –  there  shou ld  be  no –  

have been no g round to  fear  tha t :   Oh,  we might  lose  th is  

wonder fu l  cand ida te  i f  we fo l low the  process.   You know.  
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 Bu t  the  beauty  o f  fo l low ing the  process is  tha t ,  

one,  you wou ld  have fo l lowed  the  depar tmen t ’s  own  

gu ide l ines .   Two,  f rom the  po in t  o f  your  percept ions,  you  

know,  he  wou ld  have been appo in ted  a f te r  a  compet i t i ve  

process.  

 And when he is  no t  appo in ted  a f te r  a  compet i t i ve  

process,  when  he is  appo in ted  in  b reach  o f  the  

depar tment ’s  own gu ide l ines  and you then have  

Mr  Henk Beste r  say ing  he  was to ld  by  Mr  Sa l im Essa,  the  

prev ious year,  tha t  they had dec ided,  whoever  they were ,  10 

tha t  the  next  boss o f  Eskom wou ld  be  Mr  Mole fe .  

 And then he is  approached,  he  is  seconded and  

then he i s  appo in ted  in  b reach o f  the  depar tment ’s  own  

gu ide l ines .   I t  does,  ce r ta in ly,  in  the  pub l i c  –  in  te rms o f  

pub l i c  percept ion  ra ise  some quest ion ,  to  say how. . .  

 The depar tment  has go t  i t s  own gu ide l ines  wh ich  

i t  must  have had a  good reason to  say they must  be  used.   

Here  they were  no t  used.    

 And o f  course ,  the  board  says we have such a  

good cand ida te  and maybe some peop le  say:   Wel l ,  a  good  20 

cand ida te  i s  a  good reason to  no t  to  fo l low processes.   But  

o thers  wou ld  say :   No,  no .   Do fo l low processes because 

process is  very  impor tan t .   You unders tand?  

MS BROWN :    Cha i r,  what  i f  I  suspend?  What  i f  I  say  I  

suspended a l l  in fo rmal  p ro toco ls?  
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CHAIRPERSON :    H ’m?  

MS BROWN :    I  do  no t  know i f  I  d id  say –  I  do  no t  th ink  I  

have sa id  tha t .   [ laughs]  

CHAIRPERSON :    [ laughs]  

MS BROWN :    I  am jus t  say ing .   What  i f  I  sa id ,  I  suspend –  

in  my –  the  memo,  I  suspend  in fo rmal  p ro toco ls  tha t  

governance the  processes o f  appo in tments  and on ly  s t i ck  

w i th  what  i s  –  what . . .   I  mean,  I  do  no t  want  o  use the  word  

lawfu l l y  o r  lega l l y  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja .  10 

MS BROWN :    . . .w i th  so  many lawyers  around and 

a t to rneys around  but  I  mean. . .   You know wha t  I  am 

say ing?  What  i f  I  had suspended  the  in fo rmal  convent ion  

or  the  convent ion? 

CHAIRPERSON :    I  th ink  what  you want  to  say is .   Maybe 

the  po in t  you want  o  make is :   Wel l ,  gu ide l i nes  are  

gu ide l ines .   The Companies  Act  i s  law and whatever  e lse .  

MS BROWN :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    And you a re  th ink ing :   Wel l ,  what  i f  I  

fo l low the  Companies  Act  and the  MOI  bu t  I  d id  no t  fo l low 20 

the  gu ide l ines .   Is  i t  a  b ig  dea l?   I s  tha t  what  you want  to  

say?  

MS BROWN :    I  th ink  you are  r i gh t  Cha i r. . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    [ Ind is t inc t ]   

MS BROWN :    That  i s  what  I  –  bu t  tha t  i s  no t  what  I  have 
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done.   I  hope I  have not  done. . .   No,  I  do  no t  th ink . . .   

[ laughs]  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja .   No,  I  th ink  you need to  have a  look.  

MS BROWN :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    To  re f resh  your  memory  o f  what  

happened because i t  i s  an  impor tan t  i ssue.   Cer ta in ly  f rom 

my po in t  o f  v iew but  a lso ,  and th i s  m ight  no t  have anyth ing  

to  do  w i th  you,  maybe,  because maybe i t  i s  the  board  

wh ich  made the  dec is ion  as  opposed to  you mak ing  the  

dec is ion  in  regard  to  the  Group CEO,  namely,  w i th  10 

Mr  S ingh.   My unders tand ing  is  tha t  he  was a lso  appo in ted  

w i thout  fo l low ing any compet i t i ve  p rocess.   A re  you ab le  to  

say anyth ing  on  tha t?  

MS BROWN :    H ’m.   I  hear  what  you say ing  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    H ’m,  h ’m.   You . . . [ in te rvenes]   

MS BROWN :    No,  I  th ink  you are  r igh t .   You are  r igh t  in  

ask ing  the  quest ions tha t  you are  ask ing  because we cou ld  

–  the  argument  i s  no t  go ing  to  be  –  the  argument  tha t  

anyone w i l l  oppose you w i th  i s  no t  an  argument  tha t  i f  i t  i s  

t rue  tha t  i t  has  happened tha t  way.   I  canno t  be  an  20 

argument  tha t  i s  ou ts ide  o f  the  process.  

CHAIRPERSON :    H ’m,  h ’m.  

MS BROWN :    And tha t  i s  the  on ly  a rgument  I  have.   And  

the  argument  I  have is  ou ts ide  o f  the  process.   I t  i s  no t  

ins ide  the  process tha t  you have jus t  ou t l ines .  
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CHAIRPERSON :    H ’m.   Ja ,  ja .   Mr  Se leka,  am I  –  i s  my 

reco l lec t ion  co r rec t  about  Mr  S ingh ’s  appo in tment  to  

Eskom? 

ADV SELEKA SC :    Ja ,  Mr  S ingh . . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    There  was no compet i t i ve  process e i ther  

w i th  h im?  

ADV SELEKA SC :    No.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja .  

ADV SELEKA SC :    Mr  S ingh says  the  Min is te r  approached 

h im.  10 

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja .  

ADV SELEKA SC :    And asked h im,  whether  he  w i l l  be  

seconded.   Or. . .   But  you are  ta lk ing ,  Cha i rperson,  about  

. . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    [ Ind is t inc t ]   

ADV SELEKA SC :    No,  there  was not .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja .  

ADV SELEKA SC :    Ja .  

[Par t ies  in te rven ing  each o the r  –  unc lea r. ]  

CHAIRPERSON :    No process the re to  . . . [ in te rvenes]   20 

ADV SELEKA SC :    There  was no process.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja .  

ADV SELEKA SC :    Bu t  I  wanted to  say,  Cha i rpe rson.  

CHAIRPERSON :    H ’m?  

ADV SELEKA SC :    The MOI  over  and above the  



22 MARCH 2021 – DAY 365 
 

Page 100 of 108 
 

gu ide l ines ,  ac tua l l y  requ i res  a  shor t l i s t  to  be  made to  the  

Min is te r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.   Yes.   Oh.  

ADV SELEKA SC :    Ja .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay.   Do you want  to  jus t  ment ion  tha t?  

ADV SELEKA SC :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    So  tha t  the  Min is te r  can hear.  

ADV SELEKA SC :    So  tha t  i s  c lause –  under  C lause 13.3  

o f  the  MOI .   13 .3 .1  says:  

“The board  sha l l  ident i f y,  nominate  and 10 

eva lua te  po tent ia l  cand ida tes  fo r  appo in tment  

as  the  CE in  acco rdance w i th  the  gu ide l ines . . . ”  

 And 13.3 .2  says:  

“The shareho lde r  sha l l  appo in t  the  CE f rom the  

shor t l i s t  o f  cand ida tes  prov ided by  the  board  

in  accordance w i th  the  gu ide l ines . . . ”  

CHAIRPERSON :    H ’m.   I  guess to  the  ex ten t  tha t  

Mr  Se leka may have got  the  r i gh t  c lause o f  the  MOI ,  I  

guess tha t  i f  the  appo in tment  was in  b reach o f  the  MOI ,  

tha t  wou ld  be  un lawfu l .   Ms Brown,  wou ld  i t  no t?  20 

MS BROWN :    Bu t  then the  par t  –  tha t  i s  why I  need to  

read the  MOI .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja ,  ja .  

MS BROWN :    And not  commi t  myse l f  a t  th is  s tage.  

CHAIRPERSON :    No,  no .   That  i s  f ine .   That  i s  f ine .  
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MS BROWN :    Bu t  the  issue. . .   There  is  a  par t  tha t  i s  

m iss ing  the re .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja .  

MS BROWN :    And tha t  i s  the  pa r t  tha t  says tha t  –  and I  

l i s tened jus t  b r ie f l y.   And tha t  i s  the  par t  tha t  says tha t  the  

on ly  employers  o f  DG’s  or  HOD’s  are  no t  –  they are  

ac tua l l y  employ ing  –  they a re  –  the i r  employment  i s  

approved or  re jec ted  by  Cab ine t .    

CHAIRPERSON :    H ’m.  

MS BROWN :    So  there  is  a lso  tha t  par t  tha t  i s  m iss ing .  10 

CHAIRPERSON :    H ’m.   No,  tha t  i s  f ine .   So I  th ink  tha t  the  

ar rangements ,  there fore ,  i s  that  you w i l l  re f resh your  

memory  on  the  issue o f  p rocesses tha t  may or  may not  

have been fo l lowed or  the  process tha t  may or  may not  

have been fo l lowed in  regard  to  the  permanent  appo in tment  

o f  Mr  Mole fe  to  Eskom.    

 And what  reasons there  ex is ted ,  i f  any,  why no 

process was fo l lowed and say ing  no  process in  the  contex t  

o f  e i ther  the  gu ide l ines  o r,  i f  Mr  Se leka is  r i gh t ,  whatever  

the  MOI  contemp la tes  as  we l l .   And maybe we cou ld  then 20 

have a  supp lementary  a f f idav i t  wh ich  dea ls  w i th  tha t  f rom 

you.   Maybe we cou ld  –  i f  there  i s  a  chance tha t  we cou ld  

have tha t  a f f idav i t  be fore  the  Eas ter  weekend tha t  wou ld  

be  apprec ia ted .   I f  there  are  cha l lenges then maybe you 

wou ld  in  the  f i rs t  week –  w i th in  the  week o f  Easter  Monday 
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so  tha t  we cou ld  have a  look and  take  i t  f rom there .   Mr  

Se leka?  

ADV SELEKA SC:    Cha i r,  ja ,  sha l l  I . . .?  

CHAIRPERSON :    Oh.  

ADV SELEKA SC:    I f  I  have anyth ing  to  add I  can  add to  

your  l i s t .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja ,  okay.   Okay,  you want  to  do  tha t?  

MS BROWN:    No ,  Cha i r  …[ in te rvenes]  

CHAIRPERSON :    No,  he  is  no t  th rea ten ing  to  ask  you  

quest ions,  he  is  th rea ten ing  to  g ive  you more  homework .  10 

ADV SELEKA SC:    Yes [ inaud ib le  –  speak ing  

s imul taneous ly ]  

CHAIRPERSON :    Wel l  –  o r  you cou ld  send someth ing  to  

her  lawyers .  

ADV SELEKA SC:    Yes,  yes .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Which  h igh l igh ts  var ious fea tures .  

ADV SELEKA SC:    Yes,  jus t  two po in ts .  

CHAIRPERSON :    And I  th ink  maybe I  cou ld  say th is ,  Ms  

Brown,  par t  o f  what  I  have to  look  a t  i s  i f  some o f  the 

th ings tha t  I  have been to ld  happened wh ich  connected or  20 

invo l ved the  Gup tas  or  the i r  assoc ia tes ,  i f  indeed they d id  

happen,  what  do  I  make o f  what  was happen ing  a t  Eskom 

dur ing  your  te rm ,  your  tenure ,  you know?  And in  th is  

regard  there  a re  a  number  o f  th ings.   You do not  have to  

no te  them down now but  I  jus t  ment ion  you have Mr  Henk  
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Bester ’s  ev idence tha t  in  2014 he was to ld  by  Mr  Sa l im 

Essa tha t  Mr  Mole fe  was go ing  to  be  the  next  boss o f  

Eskom.   He was meet ing  w i th  Mr  Sa l im Essa about  

someth ing  e lse  a t  Transnet  and Mr  Sa l im Essa,  accord ing  

to  Mr  Henk Bester,  was t ry ing  to  push Mr  Henk Beste r  to  

inc lude h is  company in to  a  cer ta in  bus iness tha t  they had 

got  a  Eskom and Mr  Henk Bester  was res i s t ing  th is  and Mr  

Essa sought  to  show Mr  Bester  tha t ,  you know,  they are  

very  power fu l ,  they  had a l ready made a  dec is ion  tha t  the  

next  boss o f  Eskom wou ld  be  Mr  Br ian  Mole fe .   A t  tha t  t ime 10 

Mr  Br ian  Mole fe  was Group CEO of  Transnet  and so  the re  

is  tha t .  

And then Mr  Matona gets  appo in ted  in  October  as  

Group CEO but  w i th in  a  few months o f  h im he gets  

suspended,  he  ge ts  ou t ,  Mr  Br ian  Mole fe  happens to  be  the  

person who is  b rought  in ,  who is  seconded and then la te r  

he  ge ts  appo in ted  permanent ly  and maybe depend ing  on  

what  you w i l l  come back w i th  in  your  supp lementa ry  

a f f idav i t ,  maybe he gets  appo in ted  even in  b reach  o f  the 

depar tment ’s  own gu ide l ines  as  to  how CEOs shou ld  be  20 

appo in ted .  

 Then Mr  S ingh fo l lows h im f rom Transnet ,  fo l lows  

h im to  Eskom,  maybe he too  ge ts  appo in ted  permanent ly  

as  CFO wi thout  the  fo l low ing o f  any compet i t i ve  process 

and then i f  Ms Dan ie l s ’ ev idence is  t rue  and i f  Mr  Abram 
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Masango ’s  ev idence is  t rue  –  o r  no ,  le t  me f i rs t  say  then on  

the  8  March 2015 a  meet ing  takes p lace in  Durban a t  

wh ich ,  acco rd ing  to  Mr  Tsots i  and Mr  L inne l l ,  the  Pres ident  

takes par t  where  the  idea o f  the  suspens ion  o f  th ree  

execut ives o f  Eskom is  d iscussed.  

And then i f  Mr  Abram Masango ’s  ev idence is  t rue  

and i f  Ms Dan ie l s ’ i s  t rue ,  on  the  10  March befo re  board  

members  o the r  than Mr  Tsots i  had to  know tha t  there  i s  a  

suggest ion  tha t  cer ta in  execut ives  be  suspended,  then on 

tha t  day Mr  Sa l im Essa meets  w i th  Ms Dan ie ls  and w i th  Mr  10 

Koko and meets  w i th  Mr  Masango and they ge t  to ld  in  

separa te  meet ings tha t  four  execut ives  wou ld  be  

suspended.   Now a t  the  Durban meet ing  i t  was th ree  

execut ives,  no t  four,  and now there  are  four  and then – and  

one o f  them i s  to ld ,  e i ther  Masango or  Dan ie l s ,  I  cannot  

remember,  ge ts  to ld  tha t  these four  wou ld  be  suspended,  

they inc lude Mr  Koko but  Mr  Koko w i l l  come back a f te r  the  

suspens ion ,  the  o thers  w i l l  no t  come back,  I  th ink .  

ADV SELEKA SC:    That  i s  the  ev idence.  

CHAIRPERSON :    And u l t imate l y  tha t  i s  what  happens but  20 

on  the  11 t h  the  meet ing  takes p lace,  you come to  address  

the  meet ing ,  you  have four  a reas  tha t  you are  concerned  

w i th  and on the  ev idence tha t  has been g iven,  you speak  

on the  bas is  tha t  though the  execu t ives  who had those four  

a reas shou ld  be  suspended,  bu t  you say I  cannot  ins t ruc t  
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you,  the  board ,  what  to  do .   And then they ge t  suspended 

and then,  o f  course ,  in  due course  they ge t  pa id  ou t .   The  

board  says we l l ,  we had not  p rob lems wi th  them coming  

back bu t  they pa id  ou t  to  leave.   A l l  o f  these th ings.  

And then you have,  on  the  ev idence tha t  has been  

g iven,  i f  i t  i s  t rue ,  you have the  Pres ident  g iv ing  

ins t ruc t ions tha t  a  board  meet ing ,  wh ich  was  qu i te  

impor tan t ,  to  dea l  w i th  I  th ink  the  corpora te  p lan  o r  

whatever,  ge ts  cance l led  and nobody is  to ld  what  the  

reasons were ,  the  m in is te r  respons ib le  seems to  have a lso  10 

not  been to ld  about  tha t .  

 So you have a  lo t  o f  th ings tha t  happened and par t  

o f  my job  w i l l  be  to  t ry  and make sense o f  a l l  o f  th is  bu t ,  as  

I  say,  i t  a l l  depends on what  i s  found to  have ac tua l l y  

happened,  what  i s  t rue ,  what  a re  the  fac ts .   But  some o f  

these,  i f  they  are  found to  have happened,  wou ld  requ i re  

me to  t r y  and make sense exact ly  what  was go ing  on and,  

o f  course ,  Mr  Tsots i  ge ts  –  the  board  says they have  

conf idence in  h im,  he  says he  had  not  coopera ted  w i th  the  

Guptas  and now he was be ing  pushed out .   He res igns.  20 

 So I  am jus t  ment ion ing  these th ings fo r  what  i t  is  

wor th  bu t  you can  obv ious ly  on ly  say what  you know.  

MS BROWN:    Cha i r,  can I  ask  a  quest ion?  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  yes .  

MS BROWN:    And i t  i s  no t  to  go  aga ins t  what  you are  
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say ing .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

MS BROWN:    I  jus t  have –  you know,  there  are  some 

d i f f i cu l t ies  I  have  w i th  so  and so  and so  and so  say ing  tha t  

and –  so ,  I  mean,  when Mr  Henk Beste r  says so  Sa l im Essa 

says tha t  he  w i l l  be  the  CEO,  so  he  w i l l  never  be  a  CEO for  

the  res t  o f  h is  l i fe  because Mr  Essa says he  w i l l  be  a  CEO.   

I  jus t  do  no t  unders tand what  –  I  dea l  w i th  the  issue o f  

B r ian  Mole fe  and  h is  appo in tment .   We wi l l  look  –  I  th ink 

we w i l l  look  in to  tha t .  10 

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja .  

MS BROWN:    I  have not  spoken to  my lega l  peop le .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja ,  ja .  

MS BROWN:    We wi l l  look  in to  tha t  because tha t  i s  

someth ing  we –  tha t  i s  someth ing  concre te  tha t  we can  

dea l  w i th .  

CHAIRPERSON :    That  you can dea l  w i th ,  ja ,  ja .  

MS BROWN:    And I  wanted to  –  I  do  no t  know i f  I  am ever  

coming back he re  aga in ,  bu t  I  want  to  say jus t  one th ing ,  i f  

you  do not  m ind ,  Cha i r.   I t  has  go t  no th ing  to  do  w i th  20 

imp l ica t ing  anybody.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

MS BROWN:    I ,  a  coup le  o f  months  ago,  i t  was a  Saturday  

morn ing ,  a  lady  on  SA Express sa id  tha t  she was supposed 

to  g ive  me R10 mi l l ion  and I  do  no t  th ink  you p robab ly  
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remember  i t ,  she  [ inaud ib le  –  speak ing  s imu l taneous ly ]  

CHAIRPERSON :    No,  I  remember  i t  because –  okay,  no ,  I  

jus t  want  to  say I  remember  i t  because I  th ink  I  saw i t  in  

your  a f f idav i t  recent ly,  in  one o f  your  a f f idav i t s  

…[ in tervenes]  

MS BROWN:    Can I  jus t  …[ in te rvenes]  

CHAIRPERSON :    Bu t  I  do  reca l l  tha t  some wi tness had 

sa id  someth ing  a long those l ines  about  you in  regard  to  a  

d i f fe ren t  work  s t ream.  

MS BROWN:    Oh.   So might  tha t  s t i l l  come up?  Or  can I  10 

say i t?  

CHAIRPERSON :    Wel l ,  you  –  we l l  le t  me say f i rs t  i t  i s  no t  

las t  t ime tha t  you  have to  g ive  ev idence because cer ta in l y  

in  regard  to  Dene l  we s t i l l  wou ld  l i ke  you to  dea l  w i th  

Dene l  i ssues.   Wi th  regard  to  tha t  par t i cu la r  work  s t ream,  I  

th ink  i f  you  wou ld  l i ke  to  say someth ing ,  do  say i t  because  

i t  may be tha t  there  m ight  no t  be  anothe r  chance.   But  i f  

you  say look,  apar t  f rom what  you w i l l  say  now you wou ld  

l i ke  to  dea l  w i th  i t  more  comprehens ive ly,  le t  the 

Commiss ion  know.  20 

MS BROWN:    Okay.   I  jus t  want  to  say tha t  tha t  i s  an  

abso lu te  un t ru th .   I t  has  never  happened,  I  have never  

asked any R10 m i l l ion  and never  ever  rece ived R10  mi l l ion 

f rom anybody fo r  anyth ing  inc lud ing  the  lady in  quest ion  

and I  do  no t  th ink  she is  to  b lame fo r  i t ,  I  th ink  somebody 
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e lse  to ld  her  tha t  he  was supposed  to  g ive  me R10 mi l l ion .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

MS BROWN:    Th is  m ight  jus t  s top  the  peop le  f rom t ry ing  

to  bor row money f rom me,  I  do  no t  have R10 mi l l ion .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja ,  no ,  I  th ink  she sa id  i t  was  Mr  van 

Wyk who had sa id  tha t ,  i f  I  am not  m is taken.  

MS BROWN:    Yes.   

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja ,  ja .  

MS BROWN:    Thank you,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay,  tha t  i s  a l r igh t .   We a re  go ing  to  10 

ad journ .   Thank you ve ry  much,  Ms Brown,  I  th ink  

ar rangements  fo r  fu r ther  ass i s tance f rom you have been  

made but  you w i l l  come back to  dea l  w i th  mat te rs  re la t ing  

to  Dene l .   A r rangements  w i l l  be  made fo r  tha t  bu t  thank 

you very  much  fo r  ava i l ing  yourse l f  and fo r  ava i l ing  

yourse l f  on  a  pub l i c  ho l iday  once  aga in  and thank  you to  

everybody.   We w i l l  now ad jou rn .   I  can  jus t  ment ion  fo r  the 

benef i t  o f  the  pub l i c  tha t  tomorrow I  w i l l  be  hear ing  

ev idence re la t ing  to  SARS,  so  tha t  w i l l  be  tomorrow,  

Wednesday and Thursday.   We ad journ .  20 

ADV SELEKA SC:    Thank you,  Cha i r.  

MS BROWN:    Thank you,  Cha i r.  

INQUIRY ADJOURNS TO 23 MARCH 2021  


